EXHIBIT A

The Court Yard Apartments

Application for Multi-Unit Tax Incentive Program October 15, 2018



Application for Multiple-Unit Housing Tax Incentive Program – SRC 2.790						
City of Salem, Urban Development Department 350 Commercial Street NE, Salem, OR 97301						
I. Applicant Inform legal documentation of the LLC	nation (If the applicant C's formation and list of me	is an LLC, S-Corps or similar member mbers, authorized to sign on LLC's beh	company, please provide nalf)			
Name:	Ti	tle:				
Company:						
Street:	Ci	ty, State, Zip Code:				
Phone:	E-mail:	FAX:				
II. Applicant 's Rep	presentative Infor	rmation (if different than a	bove)			
Name:	Ті	tle:				
Company:						
Street:	Cit	ty, State, Zip Code:				
Phone:	E-mail:	FAX:				
III. Property Infor	mation					
Project is located within t	he designated program	n boundary: 🗌 Yes 🗌 No				
Applicant has site control	Yes No					
Addroca						
Audress:						
Map:	Block:	Subdivision:				
Map: Note: If property is only a fra portion of the lot to be used.	Block: action of a platted lot, indica	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b	oounds description of the			
Map: Note: If property is only a fra portion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site:	Block: action of a platted lot, indica	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b	oounds description of the			
Map: Note: If property is only a fra portion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site:	Block: action of a platted lot, indica	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b	oounds description of the			
Map: Note: If property is only a fra portion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being	Block: action of a platted lot, indica	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why:	oounds description of the			
Map: Note: If property is only a fra portion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being	Block: action of a platted lot, indica	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why:	oounds description of the			
Map: Note: If property is only a fra portion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning:	Block: action of a platted lot, indica g removed, please exp Assessor's proper	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s):	oounds description of the			
Map: Note: If property is only a fra portion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning: Parcel size:	Block: action of a platted lot, indica g removed, please exp Assessor's proper	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s):	oounds description of the			
Map: Note: If property is only a fra portion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning: Parcel size: IV. Project Inform	Block: action of a platted lot, indica g removed, please exp Assessor's proper ation	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s):	oounds description of the			
Audress: Map: Note: If property is only a fraportion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning: Parcel size: IV. Project Inform Anticipated construction set	Block: action of a platted lot, indication g removed, please exp Assessor's proper ation start date:	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s): Anticipated completion da	oounds description of the			
Audress: Map: Note: If property is only a fraportion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning: Parcel size: IV. Project Inform Anticipated construction s Desired effective date (ta	Block: action of a platted lot, indication g removed, please exp Assessor's proper ation start date: x year) for the Multi-U	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s): Anticipated completion da nit Housing Incentive Program:	oounds description of the			
Address: Map: Note: If property is only a fraportion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning: Parcel size: IV. Project Inform Anticipated construction s Desired effective date (ta Number, size, and type of	Block: action of a platted lot, indication g removed, please exp Assessor's proper ation start date: x year) for the Multi-Up of dwelling units propose	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s): Anticipated completion da nit Housing Incentive Program: sed: Additional detail	oounds description of the ate: ate: ate:			
Address: Map: Note: If property is only a fraportion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning: Parcel size: IV. Project Inform Anticipated construction s Desired effective date (ta Number, size, and type of 1 bedroom units	Block: action of a platted lot, indication g removed, please exp Assessor's proper ation start date: x year) for the Multi-Up of dwelling units propose Square feet	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s):	bounds description of the			
Address: Map: Note: If property is only a fraportion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning: Parcel size: IV. Project Inform Anticipated construction s Desired effective date (ta Number, size, and type of 1 bedroom units 2 bedroom units	Block: action of a platted lot, indication g removed, please exp Assessor's proper ation start date: x year) for the Multi-U of dwelling units propos Square feet Square feet	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s): ty account number(s):	oounds description of the ate: s in exhibit CRental rateRental rate			
Map: Note: If property is only a fraportion of the lot to be used. Current use(s) of site: If existing housing is being Current zoning: Parcel size: IV. Project Inform Anticipated construction s Desired effective date (ta Number, size, and type of 1 bedroom units 2 bedroom units 3 bedroom units	Block: action of a platted lot, indication g removed, please exp Assessor's proper ation start date: x year) for the Multi-U of dwelling units propose Square feet Square feet Square feet	Subdivision: ate this fact and provide a metes and b ate this fact and provide a metes and b lain why: ty account number(s): ty account number(s):	oounds description of the ate: s in exhibit CRental rateRental rateRental rateRental rateRental rateRental rate			

Total	building square footage:	Dimensions of building:
Buildi	ng covers percentage of the	lot.
Amou	int of open space to be included:	
Metho	od of construction:	
Type	of materials:	
Talath	or materials.	ted for the project?
IS OTH	er public financial assistance being reques	ted for the project? Yes No
IT SO,	please list the amount and type of existing (or anticipated sources of funds requested:
V. P	ublic Benefits (Please check all that app	ly)
□ Ur	nits sales prices or rental rates accessible to	a broad range of mixed incomes
□ Re	ecreation facilities	
	Den space	
	ommon meeting rooms	
🗆 Da	aycare facilities	
🗆 Fa	cilities supportive of the arts	
🗌 Fa	cilities for the handicapped	
🗌 Sp	ecial architectural features	
🗆 Se	rvice/commercial use permitted and needed	but unavailable for economic reasons
🗌 De	edication of land or facilities for public use	
De De	evelopment or redevelopment of underutilize	ed or blighted property
	ovision of pedestrian-oriented design feature	25
Ex	tra costs associated with infill or redevelopn	nent
L De	evelopment in structures that may include gi	ound level commercial space
	evelopment on sites with existing single-stor	y commercial structures
	evelopment on existing surface parking lots	
	ED certification of the project	•
	ovision of amenities and/or programs suppo	e rtive of the use of mass transit
	ovision of amenicies and/or programs suppo	
Plea	se attach the following and label	as Exhibits A-F
	Legal Description, labeled as Exhibit A	
	Evidence of Site Control, labeled as Exhibit	В
	A description of the project including inform population, parking and circulation plans, p	nation regarding the size and type of units, target rivate and public access, and public benefits of the
	project, labeled as Exhibit C	
	A site plan, drawn to a minimum scale of 1 plan of the entire project. Refer to SRC2.81	" = 20', which shows in detail the development .0 (3) and (5), labeled as Exhibit D
	Letter from the City of Salem Public Works served by existing sewer and water service	Department stating the proposed use can be , labeled as Exhibit E
	Documents to explain the proposed public h market studies when appropriate, labeled a	penefits, including economic feasibility studies and s Exhibit F
Plea	Legal Description, labeled as Exhibit A Evidence of Site Control, labeled as Exhibit A description of the project including inform population, parking and circulation plans, p project, labeled as Exhibit C A site plan, drawn to a minimum scale of 1 plan of the entire project. Refer to SRC2.81 Letter from the City of Salem Public Works served by existing sewer and water service Documents to explain the proposed public to market studies when appropriate, labeled a	as Exhibits A-F B nation regarding the size and type of units, target rivate and public access, and public benefits of the " = 20', which shows in detail the development 0 (3) and (5), labeled as Exhibit D Department stating the proposed use can be , labeled as Exhibit E benefits, including economic feasibility studies and s Exhibit F

Office Use Only					
Pre-Application date:	Fee received:				
Date final application received:	Received by:				
Urban Development Contact:	Pre-Application Conference Date:				
Date of correspondence to abutting property owners and appropriate affected parties, city departments, etc.:					
Correspondence sent to:					
Council Hearing date:					
Approved? Denied? Other:					
Comments:					

I certify that the above statements are true, accurate, and complete to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Applicant's Signature	ful Del	Date:	
	l de la companya de l		

Applicant's Name (Please print or type here):

Applicant's Title (Please print or type here):

Fill out form with Adobe Acrobat or print out and fill-in.

After completing form print, sign, and mail or bring to: Clint Dameron, 503.5

Clint Dameron, 503.540.2404 350 Commercial Street NE Salem, OR 97301



REEL 3958 PAGE 252 MARION COUNTY BILL BURGESS, COUNTY CLERK 06-19-2017 11:24 am. Control Number 463523 \$ 56.00 Instrument 2017 00030819

AFTER RECORDING RETURN TO: M Parkside Living, LLC PO Box 160 Salem, OR 97308

PROPERTY BOUNDARY VERIFICATION FOR BUILDING PERMIT

- M Parkside Living, LLC, an Oregon limited liability company, owns two (2) adjacent legal lots (collectively "Lots"), located at 245 Court Street NE in Salem, Oregon. Copies of the legal descriptions for each lot are attached hereto as *Exhibit "A"*.
- 2. M Parkside Living, LLC has applied for a building permit to the City of Salem to allow building to be placed over existing property lines on the Lots.
- Salem Revised Code (SRC) 63.148 permits property owner to build over existing lot lines and establishes a process, by which a single legal description of the property boundary for combined legal lots can be recorded. A copy of the boundary description for the Subject Property is attached hereto as *Exhibit "B"*.
- There is no intent to combine or extinguish the original lot lines of the two (2) lots. The existing legal descriptions as set forth in *Exhibit "A"* for each Lot shall remain the legal description for conveyance purposes.

M Parkside Living, LLC, an Oregon limited liability company

Paul Gehlar, Manager

STATE OF OREGON

COUNTY OF MARION

This instrument was acknowledged before me on ________, 20____, 20____, 20____, By Paul Gehlar, as Manager of M Parkside Living, LLC.

Notary Public for Oregon

My commission expires <u>01.24.20</u>20



SS.

EXHIBIT "A"

Legal Description

LEGAL LOT #1

Lot 5, Block 49, in the City of Salem, Marion County, Oregon.

LEGAL LOT #2

Beginning at the southwest corner of Lot 6, Block 49 in the City of Salem, Marion County, Oregon; running thence Northerly along the west line of said Lot, 57 and 1/2 feet; thence Easterly parallel with the south line of said Lot, 165 feet, more or less, to the east line of said Lot; thence Southerly along the east line of said Lot, 57 and 1/2 feet to the southeast corner of said Lot; thence Westerly along the south line of said Lot, 165 feet, more or less, to the place of beginning.

EXHIBIT "B"

LEGAL DESCRIPTION FOR:

BOUNDARY VERIFICATION 245 Court Street NE, Salem, Oregon 97301

A tract of land situated in the southeast one-quarter and the southwest one-quarter of Section 22, Township 7 South, Range 3 West of the Willamette Meridian, in the City of Salem, Marion County, Oregon, more particularly described as follows:

- Beginning at the southwest corner of Lot 5, Block 49, SALEM, as platted and recorded in Volume 1, Page 20, Book of Town Plats for Marion County, Oregon; and running thence:
- North 19°28'43" East 140.31 feet along the northwesterly line of said Lot 5 and the northwesterly line of Lot 6 in said Block 49 to the northwest corner of that property described in that instrument recorded in Reel 3889, Page 8, Marion County Deed Records;
- thence South 70°31'27" East 165.12 feet, being parallel with the southwesterly line of said Lot 6, to the northeast corner of said property, said point being on the northwesterly line of a 16.5-foot wide alley in said Block 49;
- thence South 19°30'24" West 140.38 feet along said northwesterly line to the southeast corner of the aforementioned Lot 5;
- thence North 70°30'00" West 165.05 feet along the southwesterly line of said Lot 5 to the Point of Beginning, containing 23169 square feet of land, more or less.



EXPIRES: 6-30.18

REEL: 3958

PAGE: 252

June 19, 2017, 11:24 am.

CONTROL #: 463523

State of Oregon County of Marion

I hereby certify that the attached instrument was received and duly recorded by me in Marion County records:

FEE: \$ 56.00

BILL BURGESS COUNTY CLERK

THIS IS NOT AN INVOICE.

FORM No. 723 - BARGAIN AND SALE DEED.	© 1990-2012 STEVENS-NESS LAW PUBLISHING CO., PORTLAND, OR www.slevensness.com
BLS NO PART OF ANY STEVENS-N	ESS FORM MAY BE REPRODUCED IN ANY FORM OR BY ANY ELECTRONIC OR MECHANICAL MEANS.
	REEL 3889 PAGE 8
	BILL BURGESS COUNTY OF ERK
PDQ Investments LLC	12-06-2016 02:05 pm.
Salem OR 97308	Control Number 437301 \$ 51.00
Grantor's Name and Address	instrument 2016 00058426
M Parkside Living, LLC	
DO BOY 160 Salem OF 07308	SPACE RESERVED
Grantee's Name and Address	FOR
After recording, return to (Name and Address):	RECORDER'S USE
Pioneer Trust Bank, N.A.	
PU BOX 2305	
Satelli OR 97306	Exhibit B
No change	
BAI	
KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS that	PDO Investments, LLC
hereinafter called grantor, for the consideration hereinafter	er stated, does hereby grant, bargain, sell and convey unto
M Parkside I	aving, LLC
hereinafter called grantee, and unto grantee's heirs, succe itaments and appurtenances thereunto belonging or in an State of Oregon, described as follows (<i>legal description</i>	essors and assigns, all of that certain real property, with the tenements, hered- ny way appertaining, situated in <u>Marion</u> County, of property):
Lot 5, Block 49, in the City ALSO: Beginning at the Sout Salem, Marion County, Oregon of said Lot, 57 and 1/2 feet said Lot, 165 feet, more or Southerly along the East lin corner of said Lot; thence W feet, more or less, to the p	y of Salem, Marion County, Oregon. hwest corner of Lot 6, Block 49 in the City of ; running thence Northerly along the West line ; thence Easterly parallel with the South line of less, to the East line of said Lot; thence we of said Lot, 57 and 1/2 feet to the Southeast Westerly along the South line of said Lot, 165 blace of beginning.
(IF SPACE INSUFFIC To Have and to Hold the same unto grantee and The true and actual consideration paid for this tra actual consideration consists of or includes other propert	IENT, CONTINUE DESCRIPTION ON REVERSE) grantee's heirs, successors and assigns forever. Insfer, stated in terms of dollars, is ———————————————————————————————————
which) consideration. ⁽¹⁾ (The sentence between the symbols ⁽¹⁾ , if	not applicable, should be deleted. See ORS 93.030.)
In construing this instrument, where the context	so requires, the singular includes the plural, and all grammatical changes
shall be made so that this instrument shall apply equally	to businesses, other entities and to individuals.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, grantor has executed	this instrument on; any
Signature on behalf of a business or other entity is made	PDQ Investments, LLC
INQUIRE ABOUT THE PERSON'S RIGHTS, IF ANY, UNDER ORS 195.300, 195.301 AN	D 195.305 TO 195.336 AND By: anthen Concerned
LAWS 2009, AND SECTIONS 2 TO 7, CHAPTER 8, OREGON LAWS 2010, SECTIONS 2 TO 9 AND 1	UMENT DOES NOT ALLOW Daphne C Schneider, Member
USE OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THIS INSTRUMENT IN VIOLATION OF APP AND REGULATIONS. BEFORE SIGNING OR ACCEPTING THIS INSTRUMENT. THE PER	LICABLE LAND USE LAWS SON ACQUIRING FEE TITLE BY: MACANA
TO THE PROPERTY SHOULD CHECK WITH THE APPROPRIATE CITY OR COUNTY PI	ANNING DEPARTMENT TO Paul Genlar, Member
DEFINED IN ORS 92.010 OR 215.010, TO VERIFY THE APPROVED USES OF THE LC	IT OR PARCEL, TO DETER-
MINE ANY LIMITS ON LAWSUITS AGAINST FARMING OR FOREST PRACTICES, AS DE TO INQUIRE ABOUT THE RIGHTS OF NEIGHBORING PROPERTY OWNERS. IF A	(FINED IN ORS 30.930, AMD NY. UNDER ORS 195.300.
195.301 AND 195.305 TC 195.336 AND SECTIONS 5 TO 11, CHAPTER 424, OREGOI	LAWS 2007, SECTIONS 2
TO 9 AND 17, GRAPTER 600, OREGON LAWS 2009, AND SECTIONS 2 TO 7, GRAPTE STATE OF OPEGON Count	v of Martin) se
This instrument was a	cknowledged before me on December 2. 2016
by Daphne	- C Schneider, Member
This instrument was a	cknowledged before me on,
by	
as	
of	
	lovaine Hansa
	Notary Public for Oregon
J LORAINE HANSEN NOTARY PUBLIC - OREGON COMMISSION NO. 476270	My commission expires March 27, 2017
	22.027 include the required reference
PUBLISHER'S NULE: IT using this form to convey real property subject to ORS	sz.vz/, include the required reference.

STATE OF OREGON County of Marion

) ss.

ecember 5,2016 This instrument was acknowledged before me on _

by

_____ (Signature)

Notary Public for Oregon

My commission expires March 27. Joint



This acknowledgement is attached to Bargain and Sale Deed dated December 5, 2016

REEL: 3889

PAGE: 8

December 06, 2016, 02:05 pm.

CONTROL #: 437301

State of Oregon County of Marion

I hereby certify that the attached instrument was received and duly recorded by me in Marion County records:

FEE: \$ 51.00

BILL BURGESS COUNTY CLERK

THIS IS NOT AN INVOICE.

Project Description

Exhibit "C"

The Start

The Court Yard is a redevelopment of a .53 acre site on the northeast corner of Court and Front Streets NE, in Salem's downtown. It is within the Downtown-Riverfront URA and Downtown Parking District and is outside the Downtown Historic District. It is in the Front Street Overlay within the Central Business District zone. The improvement was a 1940's grocery store. In 1971 the original 6,600 sf single floor was converted to 21 12'x'15' offices with a mezzanine above. Surface parking covered the remaining 16,500 sf.

When the accounting office left in 2015 many options for reuse of the existing building were considered. The commercial reuse options were limited. Ultimately the owners chose bringing a new residential option to Salem's downtown. The development of apartments aligns with Vision 2020 and the Downtown Strategic Action Plan's theme of increasing the number of people living downtown.

Urban housing is a key component of successful downtowns. Downtown residents provide additional buying power to support local merchants, where every resident can support up to 20 square feet of retail space. Similarly, downtown residents provide vitality and eyes on the street seven days a week.

-Downtown Strategic Action Plan

The site, at the Court Street entrance to Riverfront Park, leverages the existing asset of Riverfront Park and its amenities. It enjoys western views of Riverfront Park, the Willamette River, Eola Hills and beyond. To the east and south it offers great urban views over the predominately two-story Downtown Historic District, with a background of the Cascade Mountains. Its central location on the west edge of Salem's Downtown Historic District provides convenient access to downtown restaurants, shopping, cultural venues and entertainment. It is also close to many of Salem's largest employers and the Downtown Transit Center is just a threeblock walk away.

The 2015 Salem Housing Needs Analysis and the 2011 Downtown Strategic Action plan identify the need for additional rentals. The site is one of the few suitable redevelopment sites within the "Historic Core" identified in the Strategic Action Plan.

The Plan

Provide market rent workforce housing appealing to a broad range of residents seeking an urban home. Maintain affordability through efficient design. Required parking is onsite. Parking hidden from the sidewalks with vehicular access via the alley. The commercial space fronting on Court Street, and courtyard between the apartments and commercial space contribute to the vitality of the pedestrian experience.

The Public Benefits

Redevelopment of underutilized or blighted property: The existing vacant 6,600 sf single floor building with 47 parking spaces had 48' of Court Street frontage and the parking lot had 117' of frontage on Court Street and 140' of frontage on Front Street. Most of the sidewalk frontage was parking. The original building had a few small windows. From a pedestrian's perspective the building was little more than a plain, windowless wall. Environmental remediation was also required.

The redevelopment includes forty apartments, commercial space, 45,245 sf of occupied space, 40 parking spaces and 3,800 sf of open space. We are working with the city to implement a streetscape design intended to facilitate the transition to the new streetscape standard, when implemented.

Supportive of the use of Mass Transit: The Court Yard Apartments are located three blocks from the Downtown Transit Center. Nearly all Cherriots routes start and end at the transit center. There are also bus routes connecting the transit center to many mid-valley cities. It is less than a mile to the Amtrak and Greyhound stations.

Residents will find convenience in their proximity to some of Salem's largest employers, Many may opt to walk or take advantage of Salem's growing system of bike paths for their commute.

Unit rental rates accessible to a broad range of mixed incomes: Comps (exhibit F-3) indicate we are priced with the market for contemporary mid-rise apartments. Reported low vacancy of contemporary mid-rise apartments near downtown indicate a strong demand. The Salem Housing Needs Analysis also speaks to the market trends for apartments throughout Salem and the growing interest in urban choices. The study also indicates that The Court Yard Apartments would be affordable for many Salem households.

Pedestrian-oriented design features: Enhanced pedestrian experience is a major consideration in the design the the Court Yard Apartments. The design is intended to minimize views of the parking

from sidewalks. Parking access is via the alley, avoiding driveway crossings of the sidewalk. The commercial building and courtyard are designed to enhance the pedestrian experience.

Court Street will feature an interesting, engaging streetscape for pedestrians. The angular inset of the commercial building's doorways is a creative way to energize the storefront. The courtyard



provides a novel, engaging, experience between buildings and expands the potential for al fresco dining and other active uses.

Along Front Street a decorative screen is used to mask views of the tuck-under parking from Front Street and provide a vitalized pedestrian experience.



Parking screen concept for west facade (Front Street). Screens are laser-cut steel. The stem wall under the screens is brick.

An upgrade of streetscape will incorporate many features currently under consideration for a new downtown streetscape standard. Features include sidewalk scoring, planters, and preparations for extending utilities serving the streetscape. See Exhibit D-2, comparing enhanced improvements to required improvements.

The estimated cost for these additional pedestrian oriented design features in the public right of way, exceed the required improvements by \$56,000.

Open Space: There will be a courtyard area between the apartments and commercial building. This 1,800 sf area is bordered on the north by 2,000 sf of bio-swale. The patio adjoins a lounge in the apartment building for a private indoor-outdoor gathering space. Vertical opening "garage-style" doors will open on the courtyard from the commercial building.

Special Architectural Features: Parking Screen. Courtyard between buildings. "Pedestrian-oriented design features." All apartments include balconies. Brick ground level facade respects the predominate construction material of the adjacent historic district. The single story commercial building is scaled to provide a transition from the adjacent historic buildings to the contemporary mid-rise apartment building.

Dedication of land for Public Use: Additional 4' 2" setback along alley to facilitate two-way traffic.

Extra costs associated with redevelopment: Good urban design has additional costs to incorporate required design features in a dense development. See exhibit F-2 for a comparison.

Development on existing surface parking lots: The prior use of two-thirds of the site was for surface parking. Most of the sidewalk frontage (257' of 305') was parking. Parking will not be visible from Court Street. Parking will be attractively screened along Front Street.

Provision of parking spaces within the structure: Tuck under parking provides efficient use of the lot providing one parking space per residence. Nineteen of the forty spaces are under the building footprint. The additional twenty-one spaces are screened from street view by the buildings and landscape. All parking is secured by 6' fence and automatic gate. All parking is accessible only from the alley, reducing car/pedestrian conflicts. See Exhibit F-2 for related costs.

The Numbers

Site:

Lot size: 23,070 sf. Apartment building: 42,866 sf. Commercial building: 2,359 sf. Parking: forty total spaces, including nineteen covered, two ADA. Tax account: R89352. Assessor's Map: 07W22DC09100. Address, 211 Court St NE., Salem, Oregon.



Construction:

Construction start: July 2017.

Expected completion, apartments: December 2018.

Expected completion, commercial shell: February 2019.

Leveraging of public funds: If the full tax abatement is granted, total public funds invested in this project will be leveraged by more than \$6 of private investment for each \$1 of public investment. This exceeds the expectation of private investment for each dollar of public investment set in the Downtown Strategic Action Plan (4:1–5:1).

The architect, general contractor, most subcontractors, financing and project owners/developers are Salem-based. All contractors are located in the Willamette Valley. This project is being built by people who believe in Salem, particularly downtown Salem. They are invested in this community and contribute each day to to making Salem a even better place to live and work. Much of the construction investment in this project will stay in Salem, being spent over and over in our community.

Apartments:

Description	Units	Square Feet	Monthly Rent From*
Studio (west)	4	509	1,133
Studio (east)	4	572	1,215
One-bedroom (east)	12	861	1,515
One-bedroom (west)	7	797	1,450
One-bedroom ADA (5th floor)	1	797	1,485
Two-bedroom, One Bath	4	1,010	1,9 20
Two-bedroom, Two Bath	4	1,203	2,000
Two-bedroom, Two bath	4	1,443	2,305

*Second Floor lease rates. Includes water, sewer, recycling and garbage. Available on-site parking is at downtown-competitive rates. All units feature a balcony, ceiling fans in bedrooms, heat pumps, stainless steel appliances, microwave ovens, quartz countertops and window blinds. Apartments feature luxury vinyl tile, sheet vinyl and broadloom carpet floor coverings.

Commercial Building:

Facing Court Street, 2,359 sf, designed for one or two tenants. "Garage doors" on the west, open to a courtyard with the apartment building beyond. Outside seating in courtyard and sidewalk. It features a novel design placing the western portion of the facade at a slight angle to the street grid. This creates an inviting "people friendly" openness. This area creates interest and energizes the building improving the pedestrian appeal.

Exhibit D-1



CB TWOARCHITECTS

Required Hardscape Improvements

Asphalt Paving	1060.8 SQ	FT
Pervious PCC	5772.3 SQ	FT
Asphalt Patching for	287.3 SQ	FT
Curb&Gutter for Streets	SC 57.4	FT
Public Sidewalk	2500.7 SQ	FT
sidewalk removal	859.8 SQ	FT

NE STR FRONT



KEYNOTE

02-04	EXISTING SIDEWALK, REFER TO CIVIL DRAWINGS
03-01	CONCRETE WALKWAY, REFER TO CIVIL DRAWINGS
03-20	8'-0" X 5'-0" CONCRETE RAISED PLANTER.
05-05	STEEL CANOPY, PAINTED
05-15	BIDDER DESIGN STEEL FENCE SYSTEM WITH GATES WHERE SHOWN ON PLAN.
05-16	PRE-MANUEACTURED METAL BENCHES

SITE PLAN GENERAL NOTES:

- 1. REFER TO LANDSCAPE PLANS FOR ADDITIONAL PEDESTRIAN WALKS AND PLANTING INFORMATION.
- 2. REFER TO CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR GRADING PLANS, FINISH GRADES, SITE DRAWINGS & UTILITY INFORMATION.
- 3. SITE PAVEMENT MATERIAL AND DESIGN PER CIVIL. MAX. SPACE BETWEEN JOINTS TO BE 10'-0".
- 4. PROVIDE (1) HOSE BIB TRASH ENCLOSURE AREA; PROVIDE (1) HOSE BIB WITH MIXING VALVE AT CART WASH AREA; PROVIDE (1) HOSE BIB AT MECHANICAL ROOF AREA. 5. PARKING LOT LIGHTING TO BE (APPROVED) "SHOE-BOX" STYLE - VERIFY WITH
- ARCHITECT, SEE ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS. 6. DECORATIVE LIGHTING AT ENTRY (APPROVED) - REFER TO ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS. 7. LIGHTING TO BE INSTALLED AT PATHS ALONG THE REQUIRED EXIT WAYS - REFER TO
- ELECTRICAL SITE PLAN.
- 8. SITE MECH. TO BE LOCATED AS SHOWN OR APPROVED. 9. ALL GROUND MOUNTED UTILITY EQUIPMENT WILL BE SCREENED FROM THE STREET AND THE BUILDING WITH LANDSCAPE - VERIFY LOCATION WITH EACH UTILITY PROVIDER AND COORDINATE WITH LANDSCAPING AS NEEDED.





- 10. ANY WALL PACK LIGHTING PROVIDED TO BE SHIELDED. 11. THE RUNNING SLOPE OF WALKING SURFACES SHALL NOT BE STEEPER THAN 1:20. THE CROSS SLOPE OF A WALKING SURFACE SHALL NOT BE STEEPER THAN 1:48.
- 12. PARKING SPACES AND ACCESS AISLES SHALL HAVE A SURFACE SLOPES NOT

APPROXIMATELY 6'-0" IN LENGTH.

- STEEPER THAN 1:50 (2%) PER IBC. 13. ANY RETAINING WALLS, BERMS, SWALES, ETC. SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY - SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS.
- 14. ALL WALL MOUNTED UTILITIES AND ASSOCIATED EQUIPMENT SHALL BE PAINTED TO MATCH ADJACENT BUILDING COLOR. 15. THE SITE BENCHES SHALL BE OWNER APPROVED - PLASTIC COATED FRAME WITH ROLLED EDGES, PRE-DRILLED MOUNTING HOLES ON LEGS FOR PERMANENT PLACEMENT, ANTI-SKATE BOARD/GRAFFITI DESIGN, SIDES OR ENDS REQUIRED AND
- PERMIT SET S 0 R 4 $\overline{\triangleleft}$ RET 1 \vdash Ы STREE Ш Z REET ST COURT Ю PERMIT SE 11.22.201 Date :



Rev: Description :

SITE PLAN



Building and Safety

PAC: (503) 588-6256 Inspections: (503) 588-6256 Fax: (503) 588-6115



<u>City Hall</u> 555 Liberty St SE Room 320 Salem, OR 97301-3503

Exhibit E

CB TWO ARCHITECTS LLC 500 LIBERTY ST SE SUITE 100 SALEM OR 97301-3890 Building Seq #: 17-105741-BP Date Issued: July 10, 2017

Property Address: 245 COURT ST NE

Legal Description: Sub: SALEM Lot: 6 Blk: 49 Tax Lot#: 073W22DC09100 Twn: 7 Rng: 3 Sec: 22

Description of Work: Multi Family - New - NEW 5 STORY MULTI-FAMILY BUILDING, INCLUDING OPEN GARAGE. FIRST FLOOR INCLUDES 7251 SF OF S-2 OCC./ IA CONST AND 2,494 SF OF B OCC / IA CONST.; UPPER FOUR FLOORS ARE 40,392 SF OF R-2 OCC. / VA CONST

Info:

1st Review Estimated Turn Time: COM 20 Valuation: \$5,536,466.89 Ending total # units in building: 5 Sq Ft - Unfinished: 2064 Edition of Oregon Specialty Code?: OSSC 2014 Edition In Floodplain?: No In UGB?: Yes Deferral Description: stairs, decks, trusses, COMcheck Deferral 2 Valuation: 220000

Owner:

PDQ INVESTMENTS LLC PO BOX 160 SALEM OR 97308-0160

Contact:

GRETCHEN STONE 500 LIBERTY ST SE SUITE 100 SALEM OR 97301-3890 Work: (503) 480-8700 Cellular: (503) 510-5510 Contractors' Construction Board #: 176764 Type of Construction: 1-A/V-A Total # buildings in complex: 1 Number of Floors: 5 # Sheets Smaller than size C: 669 Landslide Hazard?: 0 In Wetlands?: No Deferred Submittal Count: 4 Deferral 3 Valuation: 13000 Plan Type Review: EPLANS Occupancy and Group: S-2/R-2 Sq Ft - finished: 50137 Fire Sprinkler Installed?: Yes In City Limits?: Yes In USA?: Yes Urban Renewal Area: RIVERFRONT DOWNTOWN Deferral 1 Valuation: 5500 Deferral 4 Valuation: 250

Contractor:

CB TWO CONSTRUCTION LLC 500 LIBERTY ST SE SUITE 100 SALEM OR 97301-3890 Work: (503) 480-8700

Applicant:

CB TWO ARCHITECTS LLC 500 LIBERTY ST SE SUITE 100 SALEM OR 97301-3890 Work: (503) 480-8700

This permit expires if work or construction authorized is not commenced with 180 days, or if construction or work is suspended or abandoned for a period of 180 days at any time after work has commenced.



 Public Works Department

 555 Liberty Street SE / Room 325 • Salem OR 97301-3513 • Phone 503-588-6211 • Fax 503-588-6025

August 31, 2018

CB Two Architects 500 Liberty Street SE, Suite 100 Salem OR 97301

Delivered by email to: gretchen@cbtwoarchitects.com

SUBJECT: Availability of Public Water and Sewer Services At: 245 Court Street NE, Salem OR 97301

To Whom It May Concern:

This letter is furnished in response to your request for a commitment for water and sewer services to the Court Street Mixed Use Development located at 245 Court Street NE, Salem, OR 97301.

As evidenced by the Notice of Final Decision for Design Review / Class 3 Site Plan Review / Class 2 Adjustment Case Number. DR-SPR-ADJ 17-02, the City of Salem will provide water and sewer services at the developer's cost for the proposed commercial use on the subject property.

Sincerely,

Curlin Punch

Curt Pellatz Project Manager

CJM\VR:G:\Group\pubwks\PLAN_ACT\PAFinal17\PC Plan Approval\17-02 Court Street Mixed Use Dev. Sewer Water.docx

Transportation and Utility Operations 1410 20th Street SE / Building 2 Salem OR 97302-1209 Phone 503-588-6063 Fax 503-588-6480 Parks Operations 1460 20th Street SE / Building 14 Salem OR 97302-1209 Phone 503-588-6336 Fax 503-588-6305 Willow Lake Water Pollution Control Facility 5915 Windsor Island Road N Kelzer OR 97303-6179 Phone 503-588-6380

Fax 503-588-6387

ADA Accommodations Will Be Provided Upon Request Servicios razonables de accesibilidad se facilitáran por petición



Salem Housing Needs Analysis 2015 to 2035

Prepared for:

City of Salem

December 2014



Contact Information

Robert Parker, AICP and Beth Goodman prepared this report. ECONorthwest is solely responsible for its content.

ECONorthwest specializes in economics, planning, and finance. Established in 1974, ECONorthwest has over three decades of experience helping clients make sound decisions based on rigorous economic, planning and financial analysis.

For more information about ECONorthwest, visit our website at <u>www.econw.com</u>.

For more information about this report, please contact:

Lisa Anderson-Ogilvie Urban Planning Administrator City of Salem Community Development Department 555 Liberty St SE / Room 305 Salem, OR 97301 503-540-2381

Beth Goodman ECONorthwest 222 SW Columbia, Suite 1600, Portland, OR 97201 503-222-6060 goodman@econw.com

Acknowledgements

ECONorthwest and the City of Salem thank the many people who helped to develop the Salem Housing Needs Analysis.

Advisory Committee

Rich Fry, Salem Planning Commission, Committee Chair Sheronne Blasi, Salem Planning Commission, Committee Vice Chair Curt Arthur, Sperry Van Ness Warren Bednarz, Salem City Council, Ward 7 Daniel Benjamin, North Lancaster Neighborhood Association (NOLA) Chuck Bennett, Salem City Councilor, Ward 1 Steve Dickey, Salem-Keizer Transit Anne Easterly, US Bank Mike Erdmann, Marion-Polk Home Builders Association Larry Goodreau, Willamette Community Bank Mark Grenz, Multi-Tech Engineering Services Travis Henry, Wildwood / Mahonia Levi Hererra, Mano-a-Mano Family Center Diane Lace, Catholic Community Services Jeff Leach, Southeast Salem Neighborhood Association (SESNA) Jim Lewis, Association of Salem Realtors, Salem Planning Commission Eric Olsen, Olsen Design and Development Alan Sorem, Saalfeld Griggs Jason Tokarski, Mountain West Investment Corporation Andrew Wilch, Salem Housing Authority

Regional Partners

Nate Brown, Community Development Director, Keizer Austin McGuigan, Planning Director, Polk County Brandon Reich, Senior Planner, Marion County

State of Oregon

Gordon Howard, Urban Planning Specialist, DLCD Tom Hogue, Economic Development Planning Specialist, DLCD Angela Lazarean, Regional Representative, DLCD

City of Salem

Lisa Anderson-Ogilvie, Urban Planning Administrator Tory Banford, Management Analyst Glenn Gross, Community Development Director Eunice Kim, Planner II Doug Rux, Assistant Director, Urban Development Director

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	1
	Goal 10 requirements	3
	Organization of the report	4
2	Residential Buildable Lands Inventory	6
	Definitions	6
	Residential Buildable Land Inventory Results	7
3	Historical and Recent Development Trends	11
4	Housing Demand and Need	14
	Step 1: Project number of new housing units needed in the next 20 years	15
	Step 2: Identify relevant national, state, and local demographic and economic trends and factors that may affect the 20-year projection of structure type mix	17
	Step 3: Describe the demographic characteristics of the population and, if possible, housing trends that relate to demand for different types of housing	24
	Step 4: Determine the types of housing that are likely to be affordable to the projected households based on household income.	27
	Step 5: Determine the needed housing mix and density ranges for each plan designation and the average needed net density for all structure types	29
	Step 6: Estimate the number of additional needed units by structure type	39
5	Residential Land Sufficiency	41
	Residential development capacity	41
	Residential land sufficiency	46
	Conclusions and Recommendations	47
Арр	pendix A. Appendix A. Residential Buildable Lands Inventory	A-1
App Sal	pendix B. Appendix B. Trends Affecting Housing Need in em	. B-1

This page intentionally left blank.

1 Introduction

This report is part of the Salem Housing Needs Analysis. The full study is contained in three documents:

- Housing Needs Analysis and Economic Opportunities Analysis: Summary briefly presents the key findings and conclusions of the residential and employment land studies.
- Salem Housing Needs Analysis 2015 to 2035 presents the full results of the housing needs analysis (HNA) for the City of Salem and is intended to comply with statewide planning policies.
- Salem Housing Need Implementation Strategy presents recommendations for revisions to policies in Salem's Comprehensive Plan Housing Element and implementation measures to meet Salem's identified housing needs.

This report presents the Salem Housing Needs Analysis 2015 to 2035. It is intended to comply with statewide planning policies that govern planning for housing and residential development, Goal 10, ORS 197.296, and OAR 660-008. The methods used for this study generally follow the *Planning for Residential Growth* guidebook, published by the Oregon Transportation and Growth Management Program (1996). Where appropriate, the analysis uses "safe harbor" provisions found in OAR 660-024.

This report provides Salem with a factual basis to support future planning efforts related to housing and options for addressing unmet housing needs in Salem. It builds from the *Salem-Keizer Housing Needs Analysis* prepared by ECONorthwest for the Salem-Keizer region. This study updates information from the Regional analysis and provides specific analysis that is required for a single jurisdiction to comply with state policies.

Map 1 shows the study area for the HNA, which includes all land within the Salem portion of the Salem-Keizer Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). This includes land within the Salem city limits, as well as land outside the city limits but within the UGB in Marion and Polk counties.



Map 1. Salem Housing Needs Analysis and Economic Opportunities Analysis Study Area, 2014

GOAL 10 REQUIREMENTS

Economists view housing as a bundle of services for which people are willing to pay: shelter certainly, but also proximity to other attractions (job, shopping, recreation), amenities (type and quality of fixtures and appliances, landscaping, views), prestige, and access to public services (quality of schools). Because it is impossible to maximize all these services and simultaneously minimize costs, households must, and do, make tradeoffs. What they can get for their money is influenced by both economic forces and government policy. Moreover, different households will value what they can get differently. They will have different preferences, which in turn are a function of many factors like income, age of household head, number of people and children in the household, number of workers and job locations, number of automobiles, and so on.

Thus, housing choices of individual households are influenced in complex ways by dozens of factors; and the housing market in the Salem-Keizer region and in Marion and Polk counties are the result of the individual decisions of hundreds of thousands of households. These points help to underscore the complexity of projecting what types of housing will be built in Salem between 2015 and 2035.

The complex nature of the housing market was demonstrated by the unprecedented boom and bust during the past decade. This complexity does not eliminate the need for some type of forecast of future housing demand and need, with the resulting implications for land demand and consumption. Such forecasts are inherently uncertain. Their usefulness for public policy often derives more from the explanation of their underlying assumptions about the dynamics of markets and policies than from the specific estimates of future demand and need. Thus, we start our housing analysis with a framework for thinking about housing and residential markets, and how public policy affects those markets.

The passage of the Oregon Land Use Planning Act of 1974 (ORS Chapter 197), established the Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC), and the Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD). The Act required the LCDC to develop and adopt a set of statewide planning goals. Goal 10 addresses housing in Oregon and provides guidelines for local governments to follow in developing their local comprehensive land use plans and implementing policies.

At a minimum, local housing policies must meet the requirements of Goal 10 (ORS 197.295 to 197.314, ORS 197.475 to 197.490, and OAR 600-008). Goal 10 requires incorporated cities to complete an inventory of buildable residential

lands¹ and to encourage the availability of adequate numbers of housing units in price and rent ranges commensurate with the financial capabilities of its households.

Goal 10 defines needed housing types as "housing types determined to meet the need shown for housing within an urban growth boundary at particular price ranges and rent levels." ORS 197.303 defines needed housing types:

- (a) Housing that includes, but is not limited to, attached and detached singlefamily housing and multiple family housing for both owner and renter occupancy;
- (b) Government assisted housing;²
- (c) Mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks as provided in ORS 197.475 to 197.490; and
- (d) Manufactured homes on individual lots planned and zoned for singlefamily residential use that are in addition to lots within designated manufactured dwelling subdivisions.

DLCD provides guidance on conducting a housing needs analysis in the document "Planning for Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon's Urban Areas,"³ referred to as the Workbook. In addition, cities with a population of 25,000 or more (including Salem) are required to comply with ORS 197.296 and must conduct an analysis of housing need by housing type and density range to determine the number of needed dwelling units and amount of land needed for each needed housing type in the next 20-years (ORS 197.296(3)(b)).

In summary, Salem must identify needs for all of the housing types listed above as well as adopt policies that increase the likelihood that needed housing types will be developed. This housing needs analysis was developed to meet the requirements of Goal 10 and its implementing administrative rules and statutes.

ORGANIZATION OF THE REPORT

The main document presents a summary of key data and analysis used in the housing needs analysis. The appendices present detailed tables and charts for the housing needs analysis. This document is organized as follows:

¹ The definition of buildable residential land from OAR 660-008 is presented in the glossary in Appendix A.

² Government assisted housing can be any housing type listed in ORS 197.303 (a), (c), or (d).

³ "Planning for Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon's Urban Areas" was prepared for the State by ECONorthwest and Lane Council of Governments in June 1997.

- **Chapter 2. Residential Buildable Lands Inventory** summarizes the inventory of vacant, suitable residential land.
- **Chapter 3. Historical and Recent Development Trends** presents a highlevel summary of residential development in Salem. Detailed tables and charts are presented in Appendix B.
- **Chapter 4. Housing Demand and Need** presents a housing needs analysis consistent with ORS 197.296 requirements and the Planning for Residential Growth Workbook. Detailed tables and charts supporting the demographic and other information discussed in Chapter 4 is presented in Appendix B.
- **Chapter 5 Residential Land Sufficiency** estimates residential land sufficiency in the Salem portion of the UGB needed to accommodate expected growth over the planning period.
- Appendix A. Residential Buildable Land Inventory Report
- Appendix B. Trends Affecting Housing Need in Salem

2 Residential Buildable Lands Inventory

This chapter provides a summary of the buildable lands inventory for the Salem portion of the Salem-Keizer UGB. Appendix A presents the full buildable lands inventory, including the methodology for developing the inventory and the full results of the inventory.

DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this study, the following definitions were used:

- **Developed Land** properties with improvements that are considered committed to existing uses for the 20-year planning period.
- Vacant Land properties with no current development and available for future employment development. The inventory included all land designated for residential uses and as a result is more comprehensive (e.g., includes more land) than would be inventoried using the standard definitions of vacant land in OAR 660-009-0005(14).
- **Partially Vacant Land** properties that are partially vacant (e.g., partially developed) in the baseline inventory with a residential use and by the criteria developed for this study could support additional development.
- Excluded properties where the existing land use excludes or essentially precludes any future development. Examples include publicly-owned lands; designated open spaces; GIS parcels representing water bodies; power lines, electrical substations, water towers or reservoirs, etc.; and airport expansion areas. Publicly-owned lands were evaluated and many (not all) were excluded because they are not intended to convert to residential use during the planning period.
- **Constrained land** land that is not available for development based upon one or more factors such as, environmental protections, or lands committed for public use. Constrained land was deducted from the buildable land inventory in order to determine the amount of unconstrained "buildable acres" available for development over the planning horizon. Appendix A describes the constraints identified and excluded in the BLI.

RESIDENTIAL BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY RESULTS

The Residential Buildable Land Inventory includes a review of the following residential and mixed-use comprehensive plan designations:

- Single Family Residential (SF)
- Multi-Family Residential (MF)
- Developing Residential (DR)
- Mixed Use (MU)
- River-Oriented Mixed Use (ROM)

Table 1 shows residential land in Salem by classification (development status). The results show that Salem has 17,659 acres in residential plan designations (including mixed-use designations that allow residential development). By classification, about 62% of the land is developed, 22% partially vacant, and 17% vacant. About 83% of residential land is in single-family designations (DR and SF); 14% in the multifamily designation and 3% in mixed-use designations (MU and ROM).

		Plan	Designatio	n			Percent of
Development Status	DR	MF	SF	MU	ROM	Total	Total
Developed	1,405	2,191	7,179	33	75	10,883	62%
Partially Vacant	2,401	76	1,286	46		3,810	22%
Vacant	1,753	276	662	227	49	2,966	17%
Total	5,559	2,543	9,127	306	124	17,659	100%
Percent of Total	31%	14%	52%	2%	1%	100%	

Table 1. Residential Land by Classification, Salem UGB, 2014

Source: ECONorthwest analysis of City of Salem GIS data

Note: DR=developing residential; MF = multifamily residential; SF=single-family residential; MU=mixed use; ROM=river oriented mixed use.

Table 2 shows buildable acres (e.g., acres in taxlots after constraints are deducted) for vacant and partially vacant land by plan designation. The results show that Salem has about 5,538 buildable residential acres (including areas in mixed-use plan designations). Of this, about half is in tax lots classified as vacant, and half in tax lots classified as partially vacant. Nearly two-thirds of the buildable residential land (3,611 acres) is in the developing residential plan designation and 24% (1,347 acres) in the single-family residential plan designation. Six percent (313 acres) is in the multifamily plan designation with the remaining acreage in mixed-use designations (MU and ROM).

2014		Pl	an Designatio	n			Percent of
Development Status	DR	MF	MU	ROM	SF	Total	Total
Partially Vacant	2,027	56	45		752	2,880	52%
Vacant	1,584	258	215	7	595	2,658	48%
Total	3,611	313	260	7	1,347	5,538	100%
Percent of Total	65%	6%	5%	0%	24%	100%	

Table 2. Buildable acres in vacant and partially vacant tax lots by plan designation, Salem UGB,2014

Source: ECONorthwest analysis of City of Salem GIS data

Map 2 and Map 3 show vacant and partially vacant residential and mixed-use land in Salem.

Chapter 5 presents the analysis of capacity of buildable vacant and partially vacant lands in Salem. The capacity analysis also includes an analysis of capacity of commercial land to accommodate residential development - through development of mixed-use buildings - on vacant and redevelopable lands.

Table 11 (in Chapter 5) shows residential development capacity on commercial land in the Mixed-Use designation, the River-Oriented Mixed Use zone, and on land designated for commercial uses.



Map 2. Vacant and partially vacant residential and mixed-use land


Map 3. Vacant and partially vacant residential and mixed-use land and development constraints

3 Historical and Recent Development Trends

Analysis of historical development trends in Salem provides insight into the functioning of the local housing market, and is required by ORS 197.296. The mix of housing types and densities, in particular, are key variables in forecasting future land need. The specific steps are described in Task 2 of the DLCD *Planning for Residential Lands* Workbook:

- 1. Determine the time period for which the data must be gathered
- 2. Identify types of housing to address (all needed housing types)
- 3. Evaluate permit/subdivision data to calculate the actual mix, average actual gross density, and average actual net density of all housing types

ORS 197.296 requires the analysis of housing mix and density to cover the past five years, or since the most recent periodic review (whichever time period is greater).⁴ Salem completed periodic review in 2009. This study, however, uses data from a longer period to describe development activity in Salem's portion of the UGB. The analysis of development activity builds on the analysis from the regional HNA, which analyzed building permits issued between 1999 and 2009. To that, this study adds information about building permits issued between 2010 and 2013. Information from this longer 15-year period gives a better picture of recent and long-term development trends in Salem.

The housing needs analysis presents information about residential development by housing type. There are multiple ways that housing types can be grouped; for example, they can be grouped by:

- (1) Structure type (e.g., single-family detached, apartments, etc.)
- (2) Tenure (e.g., distinguishing unit type by owner or renter units)
- (3) Housing affordability (e.g., units affordable at given income levels)
- (4) Some combination of these categories

For the purposes of this study, we grouped housing types based on: (1) whether the structure is stand-alone or attached to another structure and (2) the number of dwelling units in each structure. Tenure and affordability are address in Chapter 4. The housing types used in this analysis are:

⁴ Specifically, ORS 197.296(5) (b) states: "A local government shall make the determination described in paragraph (a) of this subsection using a shorter time period than the time period described in paragraph (a) of this subsection if the local government finds that the shorter time period will provide more accurate and reliable data related to housing capacity and need. The shorter time period may not be less than three years."

- **Single-family detached** includes single-family detached units and manufactured homes on lots and in mobile home parks.
- **Single-family attached** is all structures with a common wall where each dwelling unit occupies a separate lot, such as row houses or townhouses.
- **Multifamily** is all attached structures (e.g., duplexes, tri-plexes, quadplexes, and structures with five or more units) other than single-family detached units, manufactured units, or single-family attached units.

This section summarizes historical and recent development trends, described in detail in Appendix B.

Residential development trends

Single-family housing types make up the largest share of Salem's housing stock.

- Single-family detached housing accounts for about 65% of Salem's housing stock.
- Single-family attached housing accounts for about 5% of Salem's housing stock.
- Multifamily housing accounts for about 30% of Salem's housing stock.
- Over the 1999 to 2013 period, Salem issued permits for nearly 11,600 dwellings, with about 770 units permitted each year.
- Sixty-nine percent of new housing permitted in Salem between 1999 and 2013 was single-family (which includes single-family detached, single-family attached, and manufactured housing types). Nearly 8,000 single-family dwelling units were permitted over the 15-year period.
- The share of multifamily housing permitted increased to more than half of units permitted between 2010 and 2013, consistent with residential development trends across Oregon and the nation. More than 3,600 multifamily dwelling units were permitted over the 15-year period.

More than half of Salem's residents own their home.

- Homeownership rates remained stable over the last decade. Roughly 56% of housing in Salem was owner-occupied in 2000 and 2010.
- Nearly all (96%) of owner-occupied housing is single-family detached.
- Renter-occupied housing is a mixture of multifamily (57%), single-family detached (33%), and single-family attached (10%).

Salem's vacancy rate is similar to Marion and Polk counties and lower than the State average.

• In 2010, Salem's vacancy rate (6.5%) was similar to Marion and Polk counties (both at 6.6%) and lower than Oregon (9.3%).

Residential development density remained relatively stable between 1999 and 2013.

- Average density in the Salem was 8.0 dwelling units per net acre (dwelling units per net acre) over the 1999 to 2013 period.
- Density was similar across the 15-year period, with higher density during the 2010 to 2013 period (9.4 dwelling units per net acre) than during the 1999 to 2009 period (7.7 dwelling units per net acre). This is consistent with the higher proportion of multifamily units permitted.
- Density was lowest in DR (6.6 dwelling units per net acre) and SF (7.3 dwelling units per net acre) and highest in mixed use developments (between 16.8 and 25.9 dwelling units per net acre)

4 Housing Demand and Need

Appendix B describes the framework for conducting a housing "needs" analysis. ORS 197.296 requires cities over 25,000 or fast growing cities to conduct a housing needs analysis, and Salem must meet the requirements of this statute. A recommended approach is described in "Planning for Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon's Urban Areas," the Department of Land Conservation and Development's guidebook on local housing needs studies. As described in the Workbook, the specific steps in the housing needs analysis are:

- 1. Project number of new housing units needed in the next 20 years.
- 2. Identify relevant national, state, and local demographic and economic trends and factors that may affect the 20-year projection of structure type mix.
- 3. Describe the demographic characteristics of the population and, if possible, housing trends that relate to demand for different types of housing.
- 4. Determine the types of housing that are likely to be affordable to the projected households based on household income.
- 5. Determine the needed housing mix and density ranges for each plan designation and the average needed net density for all structure types.
- 6. Estimate the number of additional needed units by structure type.

This chapter is structured around these steps. It summarizes information presented in tables and charts presented in Appendix B.

STEP 1: PROJECT NUMBER OF NEW HOUSING UNITS NEEDED IN THE NEXT 20 YEARS

Step 1 in the housing needs analysis is to project the number of *new* housing units needed during the planning period. This section describes the key assumptions and presents an estimate of new housing units needed in Salem between 2015 and 2035. The key assumptions are based on the best available data and may rely on safe harbor provisions, when available.⁵ Trends that may affect these assumptions and Salem's housing need are described in Step 2 of the housing needs analysis.

- **Population.** A 20-year population forecast (in this instance, 2015 to 2035) is the foundation for estimating needed new dwelling units. Table B-7 in Appendix B shows that the Salem portion of the Salem-Keizer UGB will grow from 210,035 people in 2015 to 269,274 people in 2035, adding 59,239 people over the 20-year period⁶.
- **Persons in Group Quarters.** Persons in group quarters do not consume standard housing units: thus, any forecast of new people in group quarters is typically backed out of the population forecast for the purpose of estimating housing demand. Group quarters can have a big influence on housing in cities with colleges (dorms), prisons, or a large elderly population (nursing homes). In general, any new requirements for these housing types will be met by institutions (colleges, government agencies, health-care corporations) operating outside what is typically defined as the housing market. Group quarters, however, require residential land. They are typically built at densities that are comparable to multiple-family dwellings.

⁵ A safe harbor is an assumption that a city can use in a housing needs analysis that the State has said will satisfy the requirements of Goal 14. OAR 660-024 defined a safe harbor as "... an optional course of action that a local government may use to satisfy a requirement of Goal 14. Use of a safe harbor prescribed in this division will satisfy the requirement for which it is prescribed. A safe harbor is not the only way or necessarily the preferred way to comply with a requirement and it is not intended to interpret the requirement for any purpose other than applying a safe harbor within this division."

⁶ This forecast is based on Marion County's adopted population forecast, which is documented in: "Population forecasts for Marion County, its Cities and Unincorporated Areas 2010-2030" Prepared by the Population Research Center, College of Urban and prepared by the Population Research Center, College of Urban and Affairs, Portland State University.

It is also based on Keizer's adopted population forecast for 2032, which is documented in Ordinance number 2012-656, adopted by Keizer on May 7, 2012.

In 2010, 5.6% of the City's population was in group quarters. For the 2015 to 2035 period, we assume that 5.6% of new population, 3,317 people, will be in group quarters.

- Household Size. OAR 660-024 established a safe harbor assumption for average household size—which is the figure from the most recent Census. According to the U.S. Census, the average household size in Salem in 2010 was 2.55 people. For the 2015 to 2035 period, we assume an average household size of 2.55 persons per household.
- Vacancy Rate. Vacancy rates are cyclical and represent the lag between demand and the market's response to demand in additional dwelling units. Vacancy rates for rental and multiple family units are typically higher than those for owner-occupied and single-family dwelling units.

OAR 660-024 established a safe harbor assumption for vacancy rate — which is the figure from the most recent Census. According to the U.S. Census, Salem's vacancy rate was 6.5% in 2010. For the 2015 to 2035 period, we assume a vacancy rate of 6.5%.

Table 3 shows the forecast of demand for new dwelling units in the Salem portion of the UGB for the 2015 to 2035 period, based on the assumptions described above. Salem will have demand for 23,355 new dwelling units over the 20 year period, with an annual average of 1,168 dwelling units.

	New Dwelling Units
Variable	(2015-2035)
Change in persons	59,239
minus Change in persons in group quarters	3,317
equals Persons in households	55,922
Average household size	2.55
New occupied DU	21,930
times Aggregate vacancy rate	6.5%
equals Vacant dwelling units	1,425
Total new dwelling units (2015-2035)	23,355
Annual average of new dwelling units	1,168

Table 3. Forecast of demand for new dwelling units, Salem UGB, 2015 to 2035

Source: Calculations by ECONorthwest based on the Salem-Keizer adopted population forecast and U.S. Census data

Note: The annual average number of new units (1,168) is the average number of units over the 20-year period. Development will happen in uneven cycles, with more development some years and less other years.

STEP 2: IDENTIFY RELEVANT NATIONAL, STATE, AND LOCAL DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC TRENDS AND FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE 20-YEAR PROJECTION OF STRUCTURE TYPE MIX

National Trends

Appendix B presents a full review of national housing trends. This brief summary builds on previous work by ECONorthwest, Urban Land Institute (ULI) reports, and conclusions from *The State of the Nation's Housing*, 2013 report from the Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University.⁷ The Harvard report summarizes the national housing outlook as follows:

"The long-awaited housing recovery finally took hold in 2012, heralded by rising home prices and further rental market tightening. While still at historically low levels, housing construction also turned the corner, giving the economy a muchneeded boost. But even as the most glaring problems recede, millions of homeowners are delinquent on their mortgages or owe more than their homes are worth. Worse still, the number of households with severe housing cost burdens has set a new record."

Several challenges to a strong and sustainable housing market remain. Demand for housing is closely tied to jobs and incomes, which are taking longer to recover than in previous cycles. While trending downward, the numbers of underwater homeowners, delinquent loans, and vacancies remain high. *The State of the Nation's Housing* report projects that it will take several years for market conditions to return to normal and, until then, the housing recovery will likely unfold at a moderate pace.

National housing market trends include:8

- **First signs of post-recession market recovery.** In 2012, existing home sales accelerated to their fastest pace since 2007, new home sales registered their first year-over-year increase since the downturn began, single-family starts increased by 24 percent, and multifamily starts climbed for the second year in a row.
- **Continued declines in homeownership.** After 13 successive years of increases, the national homeownership rate declined each year from

⁷ http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/research/state_nations_housing

⁸ These trends are based on information from: (1) The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University's publication "the State of the Nation's Housing 2013," (2) Urban Land Institute, "2011 Emerging Trends in Real Estate," and (3) the U.S. Census.

2005 to 2012, and is currently at 65%. The Urban Land Institute projects that homeownership will continue to decline to somewhere in the low 60% range.

- Housing affordability. In 2012, more than one-third of American households spent more than 30% of income on housing. Nearly 40% of low-income households with one or more full-time workers are severely cost burdened (i.e., spent 50% or more of income on housing), and roughly 60% of low-income households with one part-time worker are severely cost burdened.
- Changes in housing characteristics. National trends show that the size of single-family and multi-family units, and the number of household amenities (e.g., fireplace or two or more bathrooms) increased since the early 1990s. Between 2007 and 2009, the median size of new single-family units decreased by 6% nationally and in the western region. In addition, the share of new units with amenities (e.g., central air conditioning or fireplaces) all decreased slightly during this time. Since 2009, housing sizes have been increasing annually; median housing sizes increased by 8% between 2009 and 2012 nationwide, and 7% in the western region. The short term, post-recession trends regarding amenities are mixed, but generally appear to be increasing (albeit more slowly than housing sizes).While housing size and number of amenities are increasing with the recovery of the economy, the future trajectory of these trends remains unclear.
- Long-term growth and housing demand. The Joint Center for Housing Studies indicates that demand for new homes could total as many as 17 million units nationally between 2010 and 2020. Much of the demand will come from baby boomers, Millennials,⁹ and immigrants.
- Changes in housing preference. Housing preference will be affected by changes in demographics, most notably the aging of the baby boomers, housing demand from the echo-boomers, and growth foreign-born immigrants. Baby boomers' housing choices will affect housing preference and homeownership, with some boomers likely to stay in their home as long as they are able and some preferring other housing products, such as multifamily housing or age-restricted

⁹ Millennials are, broadly speaking, the children of Baby Boomers, born from the early 1980's through the early 2000's.

housing developments.

In the near-term, echo-boomers and new immigrants may increase demand for rental units. The long-term housing preference of echoboomers and new immigrants is uncertain. They may have different housing preferences as a result of the current housing market turmoil and may prefer smaller owner-occupied units or rental units. On the other hand, their housing preferences may be similar the babyboomers, with a preference for larger units with more amenities.

State Trends

Oregon's 2011-2015 Consolidated Plan includes a detailed housing needs analysis as well as strategies for addressing housing needs statewide.¹⁰ The plan concludes that "Oregon's changing population demographics are having a significant impact on its housing market." It identified the following population and demographic trends that influence housing need statewide. Oregon is:

- Facing housing cost increases due to higher unemployment and lower wages, when compared to the nation
- Experiencing higher foreclosure rates since 2005, compared with the previous two decades
- Losing federal subsidies on about 8% of federally subsidized Section 8 housing units
- Losing housing value throughout the State
- Losing manufactured housing parks, with a 25% decrease in the number of manufactured home parks between 2003 and 2010
- Increasingly older, more diverse, and, has less affluent households¹¹

¹⁰ http://www.ohcs.oregon.gov/OHCS/HRS_Consolidated_Plan_5yearplan.shtml

¹¹ State of Oregon *Consolidated Plan 2011 to 2015*.

http://www.oregon.gov/ohcs/hd/hrs/consplan/2011_2015_consolidated_plan.pdf

Regional and Local Demographic Trends

Salem has a growing population. Salem's growing population will drive future demand for Salem over the planning period.

- Salem grew by more than 50,000 people, a 48% increase in population, at an average annual rate of 1.7% over the 1990 to 2013 period.
- Salem grew at a faster rate than the nation as a whole (1.1% per year), Oregon (1.4% per year), and Marion County (1.5%) over this period.
- Salem's portion of the UGB is forecast to grow by about 59,000 people between 2015 and 2035, at a 1.25% average annual growth rate.

Salem's population is younger than the state, on average. Salem has a larger share of relatively young people, including young families with children, and a relatively small share of people over 45 years. If Salem continues to attract people in these age categories, then Salem will continue to have demand for housing for families, especially housing affordable to younger families with moderate incomes.

- In 2010, the median age in Salem was 36.7 years old, compared to the State median of 38.5.
- Compared to the state of Oregon as a whole, a higher percentage of Salem's population is younger than 30 years old, and a lower percentage is older than 50.

Salem's population is growing older. Although Salem has a smaller share of people over 45 years old than the State average, Salem's population is growing older, consistent with State and national trends. Demand for housing for retirees will grow over the planning period, as the Baby Boomers continue to age and retire. However, Salem's demand for housing for seniors will grow at a slower rate than across the State.

- The fastest growing age group over the 2000 to 2010 period in Salem was people aged 45 years and older, with the most growth in people aged 45 to 64.
- In Salem, people aged 45 to 64 grew by nearly 9,600 people (a 34% increase) between 2000 and 2010.
- While the State does not generate population predictions for the City of Salem specifically, it does forecast population change for Marion and Polk counties. State forecasts show the share of population that is 70 years and older is forecast to increase from 10% of the population in 2015 to 14% of the population in 2035. The share of population 29 years and younger, meanwhile, is forecast to decrease from 42% in 2015 to 39% in 2035.

Salem is becoming more ethnically diverse. Growth in Hispanic and Latino population will affect Salem's housing needs in a variety of needs. Growth in

first and, to a lesser extent, second and third generation Hispanic and Latino immigrants will increase demand for larger dwelling units to accommodate the, on average, larger household sizes for these households. Households for Hispanic and Latino immigrants are more likely to include multiple generations, requiring more space than smaller household sizes. As Hispanic and Latino households integrate over generations, household size typically decreases and housing needs become similar to housing needs for all households.

- Salem's Hispanic and Latino population grew by more than 11,000 people (57%) over the 2000 to 2010 period.
- By 2010, Hispanic and Latino population accounted for 20% of Salem's total population, compared to the State average of 12%.

Salem's household size is similar to State averages.

- Salem's average household size was 2.55 persons per household, compared with the regional average of 2.68 persons per household.
- The size of households in Salem grew slightly over the ten-year period between 2000 and 2010 (2.53 to 2.55). Over the same period, the average household size in the Salem MSA rose from 2.66 to 2.68, while the State's average fell from 2.51 to 2.47.

Salem has a relatively high percentage of families with children, as well as single-person and non-family households.

- Salem has a larger share of families with children (34%) than the State average (27%), Polk County (31%), or Marion County (33%).
- Salem had a larger share of single-person households (29% in 2012) than the regional average (25% in 2012).
- Salem had a larger share of non-family households (34% in 2012) than the regional average (29%).

Homeownership and household size are related with age. The relationship between age, income, and homeownership are well-documented.¹² In general, as population ages, income and homeownership rates increase, plateauing around age 60 to 65. This trend is present in Salem's housing market. While homeownership decreases after age 74, many people continue to live in an owner-occupied dwelling until they are unable to do so. However, household size and rental rates increase with age. As Salem's population ages, there may be more demand for smaller owner-occupied dwellings, rental housing, and housing for seniors.

- More than half of householders aged 35 and older were homeowners. Homeownership increases with age until 74 years old.
- After age 75, homeownership decreases.
- Householders younger than 35 years were more likely to be renters.
- Householders 65 years and older were more likely to be homeowners in single-person households.

Salem is part of a complex, interconnected regional economy.

- Commuting is typical throughout the region: 42% of Salem's working residents commuted outside the city, and about 58% of those who work in the city live outside the city itself.
- The majority of jobs in Salem are in Government (30% of jobs), Health Care and Social Assistance (15%), Accommodations and Food Service (15%), Retail Trade (11%), and Manufacturing (6%).
- The average pay per year for all employees in all sectors in Salem is about \$42,000. The sectors with the most employment in Salem and above average wages are Government (average wage of \$56,600) and Health Care and Social Assistance (\$48,000). Average pay is lower than

¹² The research about the relationship between demographics and housing demand is based on numerous articles and sources of information about housing, including:

The Case for Multi-family Housing. Urban Land Institute. 2003

E. Zietz. *Multi-family Housing: A Review of Theory and Evidence*. Journal of Real Estate Research, Volume 25, Number 2. 2003.

C. Rombouts. *Changing Demographics of Homebuyers and Renters*. Multi-family Trends. Winter 2004.

J. McIlwain. Housing in America: The New Decade. Urban Land Institute. 2010.

D. Myers and S. Ryu. *Aging Baby Boomers and the Generational Housing Bubble*. Journal of the American Planning Association. Winter 2008.

M. Riche. *The Implications of Changing U.S. Demographics for Housing Choice and Location in Cities.* The Brookings Institution Center on Urban and Metropolitan Policy. March 2001.

L. Lachman and D. Brett. *Generation Y: America's New Housing Wave*. Urban Land Institute. 2010.

the city's overall average for Manufacturing (\$37,900), Retail Trade (\$26,800), and Accommodations and Food Service (\$16,500).

Housing types are trending towards larger units on smaller lots.

- Between 1990 and 2012, the median size of new single-family dwellings increased 21% nationally from 1,905 sq. ft. to 2,306 sq. ft. and 15% in the western region from 1,985 sq. ft. to 2,281 sq. ft. In addition to larger homes, a move towards smaller lot sizes is seen nationally. Between 1990 and 2012, the percentage of lots under 7,000 sq. ft. increased from 27% of lots to 36% of lots.
- Both African American families and Hispanic families had significantly lower likelihood of homeownership, lower house values (for owners) and lower rents (for renters) - even controlling for income and savings, level of education, age, marital status, family size, the housing market in which the unit was located - compared to whites.¹³

¹³ Boehm, Thomas P. and Alan M. Schlottmann, "Housing Tenure, Expenditure, and Satisfaction Across Hispanic, African American, and White Households: Evidence from the American Housing Survey." US Department of Housing and Urban Development, February 2006.

STEP 3: DESCRIBE THE DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS OF THE POPULATION AND, IF POSSIBLE, HOUSING TRENDS THAT RELATE TO DEMAND FOR DIFFERENT TYPES OF HOUSING

The purpose of the analysis thus far has been to give some background on the kinds of factors that influence housing choice, and in doing so, to convey why the number and interrelationships among those factors ensure that generalizations about housing choice are difficult and prone to inaccuracies.

There is no question that age affects housing type and tenure. Mobility is substantially higher for people aged 20 to 34. People in that age group will also have, on average, less income than people who are older. They are less likely to have children. All of these factors mean that younger households are much more likely to be renters, and renters are more likely to be in multi-family housing.

The data illustrate what more detailed research has shown and what most people understand intuitively: life cycle and housing choice interact in ways that are predictable in the aggregate; age of the household head is correlated with household size and income; household size and age of household head affect housing preferences; income affects the ability of a household to afford a preferred housing type. The connection between socioeconomic and demographic factors, on the one hand, and housing choice, on the other, is often described informally by giving names to households with certain combinations of characteristics: the "traditional family," the "never marrieds," the "dinks" (dual-income, no kids), the "empty nesters."¹⁴ Thus, simply looking at the long wave of demographic trends can provide good information for estimating future housing demand.

Thus, one is ultimately left with the need to make a qualitative assessment of the future housing market. Following is a discussion of how demographic and housing trends are likely to affect housing Salem over the next 20-years:

- **Growth in housing will be driven by growth in population.** Between 1990 and 2012, Salem's housing grew by 3.9% per year, while its population grew by roughly 1.7% per year. The forecasts for growth show population and housing growing at about the same rate over the 20-year period.
- On average, future housing will look a lot like past housing. That is the assumption that underlies any trend forecast, and one that allows some quantification of the composition of demand for new housing. As

¹⁴ See Planning for Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon's Urban Areas (June 1997).

a first approximation, the next three to five years of residential growth will look a lot like the last three to five years.

• If the future differs from the past, it is likely to move in the direction (on average) of smaller units and more diverse housing types. Most of the evidence suggests that the bulk of the change will be in the direction of smaller average house and lot sizes for single-family housing.

Key demographic trends that will affect Salem's future housing needs are: (1) the aging of the Baby Boomers, (2) aging of the Millennials, and (3) continued growth in Hispanic and Latino population:

- The Baby Boomer's population is continuing to age. By 2035, 24% of the population in Marion and Polk counties will be over 60 years old, compared with 16% in 2000. The changes that affect Salem's housing demand as the population ages are that household sizes decrease and homeownership rates decrease (generally after 74 years old).
- Millennials will continue to age. By 2035, Millennials will be roughly between about 35 years old to 55 years old. As they age, generally speaking, their household sizes will increase and homeownership rates will peak by about age 55. Between 2015 and 2035, Millennials will be a key driver in demand for housing for families with children.
- Hispanic and Latino population will continue to grow. The U.S. Census projects that, by about 2040, Hispanic and Latino population will account for more than one-quarter of the nation's population. The share of Hispanic and Latino population in the western U.S. is likely to be higher. Growth in Hispanic and Latino population will drive demand for housing for families with children. Given the lower income for Hispanic and Latino households,¹⁵ growth in this group will also drive demand for affordable housing, both for ownership and renters.

In summary, an aging population, increasing housing costs, housing affordability concerns for Millennials and the Hispanic and Latino populations, and other variables are factors that support the conclusion

¹⁵ The following article describes household income trends for Hispanic and Latino families, including differences in income levels for first, second, and third generation households. In short, Hispanic and Latino households have lower median income than the national averages. First and second generation Hispanic and Latino households have median incomes below the average for all Hispanic and Latino households.

Pew Research Center. Second-Generation Americans: A Portrait of the Adult Children of Immigrants, February 7, 2012

of smaller and less expensive units and a broader array of housing choices.

Millennials and immigrants will drive demand for affordable housing types, including demand for small, affordable single-family units (many of which may be ownership units) and for affordable multifamily units (many of which may be rental units).

• No amount of analysis is likely to make the distant future any more certain: the purpose of the housing forecasting in this study is to get an approximate idea about the future so policy choices can be made today. It is axiomatic among economic forecasters that any economic forecast more than three (or at most five) years out is highly speculative. At one year, one is protected from being disastrously wrong by the shear inertia of the economic machine. But a variety of factors or events could cause growth forecasts to be substantially different.

STEP 4: DETERMINE THE TYPES OF HOUSING THAT ARE LIKELY TO BE AFFORDABLE TO THE PROJECTED HOUSEHOLDS BASED ON HOUSEHOLD INCOME.

Salem's income is comparable to regional and state averages. Income is a key determinant of housing affordability. Since 2000, Salem's income has decreased (in inflation-adjusted dollars), consistent with state trends.

- Salem's median household income (\$46,500) was about 5% lower than the state median (\$49,200) in 2012.
- Inflation-adjusted income decreased in Salem from about \$53,400 in 2000 to \$46,500 in 2012 (in 2012 dollars). This is consistent with state and regional trends.
- Poverty rates increased in Salem from 15% of the population below poverty in 2000 to nearly 20% in 2010. This is consistent with state and regional trends.
- Salem had a larger share of population below the federal poverty line in 2010 (19.8%) than the State average (17.2%).

Homeownership is increasingly expensive in Salem. Sales prices for singlefamily housing increased over 2004 to 2013 period, consistent with national trends. While housing prices peaked in 2007, 2013 sales prices grew by about 16% since 2004.

- Housing costs increased 62% between 1990 and 2012, while income levels remained virtually the same (increasing by about 15% in the first decade, and declining by nearly the same amount over the second).
- In 2012, the typical value of an owner-occupied house was four times median household income. This is a substantial increase from twice median household income in 1990.
- Median sales prices for single-family housing increased by about 20% between 2004 and 2013. Median housing prices generally peaked in 2007, at roughly \$215,000. By 2013, prices had decreased to about \$166,000.
- Since 2004, median housing price increased by 14% in Salem, compared to a 25% increase Statewide, 30% in Portland, 23% in Eugene, and 47% in Corvallis.

Rental costs grew more slowly than income.

• Rental costs grew at about half the rate of income between 1990 and 2000. Rental costs have remained virtually constant over the 2000 to 2012 period, while income has declined by about 13%.

More than one-third of Salem's households have affordability problems.

Despite the facts that rental costs grew with income and housing is comparatively more affordable in Salem, the community still has an affordability problem, especially for renters.

- Thirty-nine percent of Salem's households were cost burdened (i.e., pay more than 30% of their income on rent or homeownership costs) in 2012. This is consistent with the state averages.
- More than 50% of Salem's renter households were cost burdened in 2010. About one-quarter of renters were severely cost burdened (i.e., pay more than 50% of their income on rent).
- Thirty percent of Salem's homeowners were cost burdened in 2010. About 11% of homeowners were severely cost burdened (i.e., pay more than 50% of their income on homeownership costs).
- Salem has a deficit of nearly 6,400 dwelling units that are affordable to households earning less than \$25,000 annually.

Future housing affordability will depend on the relationship between income and housing price. The key question, which is difficult to answer based on historical data, is whether housing prices will continue to outpace income growth. Over the next five years, income increases are likely to keep pace with increases in housing prices and rents.

STEP 5: DETERMINE THE NEEDED HOUSING MIX AND DENSITY RANGES FOR EACH PLAN DESIGNATION AND THE AVERAGE NEEDED NET DENSITY FOR ALL STRUCTURE TYPES.

Cities are required to determine the average density and mix of *needed* housing over the 20-year planning period (ORS 197.296(5)). The statute requires the determination of the Housing Needs Projection (e.g., needed density and mix) consider the following factors that may affect future housing need:

- A. The number, density and average mix of housing types of urban residential development that have actually occurred;
- B. Trends in density and average mix of housing types of urban residential development;
- C. Demographic and population trends;
- D. Economic trends and cycles; and
- E. The number, density and average mix of housing types that have occurred on the buildable lands.

Thus, the Housing Needs Projection must consider a range of factors, and they do not lend themselves to an empirical formula. The remainder of this section presents ECO's preliminary Housing Needs Projection and the rationale upon which that determination is based.

ECO concludes that needed housing density and mix for the 2015 to 2035 period in Salem is different than actual housing density and mix, based on the following factors (as specified in ORS 197.296(5)(a)):

Housing mix (ORS 197.296(5)(A) and (E)). The most common type of housing developed in Salem was single-family housing types.

- The share of single-family detached housing types in Salem was relatively stable between 1990 and 2012, fluctuating between 66% to 69% of housing in Salem. The share of single-family attached housing increased from about 4% in 1990 to 6% of all housing in 2012. The share of multifamily housing varied from 26% to 30% of all housing in Salem between 1990 and 2012.
- Salem issued approximately 31% of the region's multifamily housing permits between 1999 and 2013.
- Fifty-six percent of housing in Salem was owner-occupied in 2010, a decline of 1% from 2000.

Housing Density (ORS 197.296(5)(A), (B) and (E)). The average density of single-family housing was more than 7 dwelling units per net acre and for multi-family housing was generally greater than 10 dwelling units per acre.

- The average net density for all residential development occurring in Salem's portion of the UGB between 1999 and 2013 was 8.0 units per net acre.
 - The net density in the Single-Family Residential designation (SF) was 7.3 dwelling units per net acre. The Developing Residential (DR) had an average of 6.6 dwelling units per net acre.
 - Multi-Family Residential designation (MF) had an average of 10.9 dwelling units per net acre.
 - Mixed Use (MU) development in Salem had an average density of 16.7 dwelling units per net acre.

Regional Growth (ORS 197.296(5)(C). Population in Salem increased by 48% between 1990 and 2013. The adopted population forecast projects that population in the UGB will increase by more than one-quarter over the 20-year period.

- Salem has a need for housing of all types, including single-family detached, single-family attached, and multifamily units. This need also includes a need for government assisted dwelling units—which can be any of the housing types listed above.
- The Salem MSA (Marion and Polk counties) is growing, with growth concentrated in Salem. Much of the historical growth was the result of in-migration. The MSA grew by nearly 122,000 people between 1990 and 2013, with about half of this growth in Salem. Salem grew by more than 50,000 people over the 19-year period.
- Based on Marion County's adopted population forecast, Salem will population will grow by 59,239 new people from 2015 to 2035. Housing demand will grow with population growth.

Economic Trends (ORS 197.296(5)(D). The economy in the Salem MSA grew over the last two decades. A separate analysis of economic opportunities show that employment in Salem will continue to grow over the 20-year period.

• Between 1990 and 2013, the Salem MSA added more than 40,000 jobs. The majority of new jobs were in commercial sectors, such as health care and professional services. The per capita income increased by nearly 20% (\$5,600) between 1990 and 2012. • Between 2001 and 2013, the Salem MSA added about 9,500 jobs. While the economy and the housing market recently experienced a severe downturn in growth, Salem can expect to experience one to two complete economic cycles (from faster growth to little or no growth) over the planning period.

Demographic trends (ORS 197.296(5)(C). The population is aging and household sizes are generally decreasing within the region, with an increase in the share of single-person households.

- Future housing demand will be driven by in-migration and changes in age-demographics. New households and existing households are likely to undergo similar changes in age-demographics.
- The Office of Economic Analysis projects that the share of people over 60 years in Marion County will increase from 20% in 2015 to 24% in 2035, and from 23% to 24% in Polk County over the 20-year period. The aging of the population will result in changes in household characteristics. On average, household size decreases as people age and, after age 75, homeownership decreases.
- Older households will make a variety of housing choices. The major impact of the aging of the baby-boomers on demand for new housing will be through demand for housing types specific to seniors, such as assisted living facilities. Baby-boomers will make a range of housing choices in Salem:
 - Many will choose to remain in their houses as long as they are able.
 - As their health fails, some will choose to move to institutional housing, such as assisted living facilities or nursing homes.
 - Some may downsize to smaller single-family homes (detached and attached) or multifamily units. These will be a mixture of owner and renter units.
 - Some may choose to move to retirement or age-restricted communities.
- Growth of Hispanic and Latino households. Hispanic and Latino population grew by more than 11,300 people in Salem over the 2000 to 2010 period, accounting for 20% of its population by 2010. By 2030, Hispanics are projected to account for about 20% of the U.S. population, an increase from about 13% of the U.S. population in 2000. It is reasonable to expect that Hispanic and Latino populations will continue growing in Salem, consistent with State and national trends.

- To the extent that in-migrating households have lower than average income, and that minority households constitute a substantial share of in-migration, then in-migration of ethnic groups will increase demand for housing affordable to low- and moderate-income households relative to demand for other types of housing. The types of housing that are most likely to be affordable to these households are compact housing types, such as duplex, townhouse, and some types of multifamily housing types. These households are more likely to be renters, especially when they first move to Salem.
- Changes in the composition of Salem's population will affect the types of housing needed. The composition of Salem's households has changed over the past decade. The average household size in Salem increased from 2.53 to 2.55 persons per household. Sixty-six percent of Salem households were occupied single-persons in 2012.

Housing Affordability (ORS 197.296(5)(C) and (D)). Salem's housing became less affordable for both renting and owning over the last decade.

- Between 1990 and 2012, growth in homeownership costs outpaced growth in income. In Salem, median owner value increased by 62% between 1990 and 2012, while median household income remained stagnant.
- Between 2004 and 2013, average sales price increased by 14% in Salem.
- Between 2000 and 2012, growth in renter costs outpaced growth in income by a smaller margin than ownership costs. In Salem, median contract rent did not change between 2000 and 2012, while median household income decreased by 13%.
- Thirty-nine percent of Salem's households were cost burdened in 2012, with renters cost burdened more frequently than owners (52% compared to 30%).¹⁶ In comparison, 40% of households in Marion County, 39% of households in Polk County, and 39% of State households were cost burdened in 2012.

¹⁶ Cost burden is a typical standard used by HUD to determine housing affordability, which says that a household should pay no more than a 30% of household income for housing, including payments and interest or rent, utilities, and insurance. We urge readers use caution in interpreting these data; cost burden only considers the ration between income and housing cost and does not address important factors such as household assets, household size, type of dwelling unit, and others.

- In 2012, the Salem MSA had a gap in affordable housing for households that earn less than 30% of the MSA's Median Family Income (MFI), with earnings of nearly \$19,000.
 - The Salem MSA had a deficit of about 6,400 dwelling units that would be affordable to households earning \$25,000 or less based on the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development's (HUD) affordability guidelines.
 - More than 11% of the MSA's households could not afford a studio apartment at HUD's fair market rent level of \$559, and one-quarter of households could not afford a two-bedroom apartment at HUD's fair market rent level of \$742.
 - A household earning median family income (\$60,000) could afford a home valued up to about \$167,400.
- Continued increases in housing costs may increase demand for denser housing (e.g., multifamily housing or smaller single-family housing) or locating outside of Salem. To the extent that denser housing types are more affordable than larger housing types, continued increases in regional housing cost will increase demand for denser housing.

When the balance of factors required by ORS 197.296(5) are considered, ECO concludes that the needed density mix for the 20-year planning period is different than the actual density and mix achieved between 1990 and 2013. This is in part because the analysis period largely covers the housing boom period between 2002 and 2007—a period when an extraordinary number of higher cost single-family detached dwellings were built. It is also reflective of the fact that the data suggest the region has a significant affordability gap. This gap suggests that the region needs more lower cost housing, which in turn may be addressed through higher density and smaller housing types.

Table 4 presents the preliminary assessment of needed mix for housing built in Salem over the 2015 to 2035 period. The analysis in Table 4 is based on the following information and assumptions:

- The number of new dwelling units is based on the forecast for new dwelling units in Table 3.
- The mix of housing types is based on the assumption that the needed mix of new housing is different from the mix of existing housing stock (Figure B-1) and the mix of housing produced over the last decade (Table B-1). The increase of multifamily and single-family attached housing is based on the trends described above, such as:
 - Growth in people over 60 years old. Households over 60 typically have lower income than younger households. Those

without accumulated wealth (e.g., housing equity or investments) may choose lower-cost multifamily housing.

- Growth in Hispanic and Latino population. To the extent that in-migrating Hispanic and Latino households have lower than average income, then in-migration of ethnic groups will increase demand for housing affordable to low- and moderateincome households relative to demand for other types of housing. The types of housing that are most likely to be affordable to these households are denser housing types, such as duplex, townhouse, and some types of multifamily housing types. These households are more likely to be renters, especially when they first move to Salem.
- The need for affordable housing in the Salem MSA, much of which is likely to be located in Salem, the largest metropolitan area in the region.

	Mix of New Housing Units
Variable	(2015-2035)
Total new dwelling units (2015-2035)	23,355
Dwelling units by structure type	
Single-family detached	
Percent single-family detached DU	60%
equals Total new single-family detached DU	14,013
Single-family attached	
Percent single-family attached DU	5%
equals Total new single-family attached DU	1,168
Multifamily	
Percent multifamily detached DU	35%
Total new multifamily DU	8,174
equals Total new dwelling units (2015-2035)	23,355
Source: ECONorthwest	

Table 4. Needed mix for housing built in the Salem portion of the UGB, 2015 to 2035 period

Note: DU is dwelling unit.

Table 5 presents the preliminary assessment of needed density mix for housing built in Salem over the 2015 to 2035 period. The analysis in Table 5 is based on the following information and assumptions:

- The mix of housing shown in Table 4.
- The needed density of housing will be:
 - Single-family detached: 6.3 dwellings per net acre in Salem based on the density analysis. The historical density for singlefamily housing includes single-family <u>attached</u> units, which is

typically built at a greater density than single-family detached housing.

- Single-family attached: 12.0 dwellings per net acre, based ECO's estimate of single-family attached housing based on the share of single-family housing and the overall average housing density. This estimate seems reasonable, given that a density of 12.0 dwellings per net acre is a typical density of single-family attached housing in other cities.
- Multifamily housing: 18.5 dwellings per net acre in Salem. New multifamily housing in Salem developed at an average density of 17.5 dwelling units per acre. Housing in the MF designation developed at 10.9 dwelling units per net acre over the 1999 to 2013 period, while housing in MU and commercial designations developed at an average density of 16.8 and 25.9 dwelling units per acre.

The assumption that multifamily housing will develop at 18.5 dwelling units per acre is based on the assumption that more of Salem's multifamily housing will occur in more urban areas, such as those zoned RM2 or mixed use areas.

- The needed housing density is based on the assumption that the housing densities for single-family detached and single-family attached will remain stable over the 20-year period. The needed housing density assumes that densities for multifamily housing will increase slightly over the 20 year period.
- The overall average density in Salem will increase from an average of 8.0 dwelling units per net acre to 8.5 dwelling units per net acre, an 6% increase in average density. This increase is the result of the increase in the share of multifamily housing and a small increase in multifamily densities.

	New		Net Acres		Net to	let to Gross Acres	
Housing type	Dwelling Units (DU)	Percent	Density	Acres	Gross Factor	Density	Acres
Single-family detached	14,013	60%	6.3	2,224	20%	5.0	2,780
Single-family attached	1,168	5%	12.0	97	20%	9.6	122
Multifamily	8,174	35%	18.5	442	15%	15.7	520
Total	23,355		8.5	2,763		6.8	3,422

Table 5. Needed density and mix for housing built in the Salem portion of the UGB,2015 to 2035 period

Source: ECONorthwest

Note: DU is dwelling unit.

Table 6 allocates needed housing to plan designations in Salem. The allocation is based, in part, on the types of housing allowed in the zoning designations in each

plan designation. The allocation also reflects assumptions about development in mixed-use and commercial designations (described in Chapter 5). Table 6 shows:

- **Single-Family and Developing Residential** will accommodate the majority of new single-family detached housing, with some townhouses and duplexes (a multifamily housing type).
- **Multi-Family Residential** will predominantly accommodate multifamily housing types, with some townhouses and single-family detached housing.
- **Mixed Use and ROM** will accommodate a mixture of single-family detached, townhouses, and multifamily housing. The majority of this housing will be accommodated in the Fairview Mixed-Use area. The mixture of housing in Table 6 reflects the Fairview Master Plan assumptions about residential development.
- **Commercial** plan designations will accommodate multifamily housing as part of mixed-use buildings.

Table 6. Allocation of needed housing by housing type and plan designation, Sa	lem portion
of the UGB, 2015 to 2035 period	
Plan Designation	
Single-Family	

	Single-Family and				
	Developing	Multi-Family	Mixed Use	Commercial	T
	Hesidential	Hesidential	and ROW	Designations	lotal
Dwelling Units					
Single-family detached	12,996	117	900	-	14,013
Single-family attached	329	409	430	-	1,168
Multifamily	467	6,773	639	295	8,174
Total	13,792	7,299	1,969	295	23,355
Percent of Units					
Single-family detached	56%	1%	4%	0%	60%
Single-family attached	1%	2%	2%	0%	5%
Multifamily	2%	29%	3%	1%	35%
Total	59%	31%	8%	1%	100%
Source: ECONorthwest					

Note: DU is dwelling unit.

Need for government assisted and manufactured housing

ORS 197.303 requires cities to plan for government-assisted housing, manufactured housing on lots, and manufactured housing in parks.

- **Government-subsidized housing.** Government-subsidies can apply to all housing types (e.g., single family detached, apartments, etc.). Salem allows development of government-assisted housing in all residential plan designations, with the same development standards for market-rate housing. This analysis assumes that Salem will continue to allow government housing in all of its residential plan designations. Because government assisted housing is similar in character to other housing (with the exception the subsidies), it is not necessary to develop separate forecasts for government-subsidized housing.
- **Manufactured housing on lots.** Salem allows manufactured homes on lots in single-family zones as a special use. Salem requires the following standards for manufactured homes on lots:¹⁷
 - The manufactured home is multi-sectional and has at least 860 square feet of enclosed space.
 - The manufactured home is on a foundation that is continuously enclosed at the perimeter, using materials similar to foundations in surrounding dwellings.
 - The manufactured home has a pitched roof with a slope of at least three feet in height for each 12 feet in width.
 - The manufactured home's exterior siding and roofing is similar in appearance, color and materials to surrounding dwellings or are similar to those commonly used on dwellings in the community.
 - The manufactured home has an exterior thermal envelope meeting performance standards equivalent to those for single-family dwellings.
 - The manufactured home has a garage or carport constructed of like materials.

Salem does not have special siting requirements for manufactured homes. Since manufactured homes are subject to the same siting requirements as site-built homes, it is not necessary to develop separate forecasts for manufactured housing on lots.

• **Manufactured housing in parks.** OAR 197.480(4) requires cities to inventory the mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks sited in areas planned and zoned or generally used for commercial, industrial or high

¹⁷ These standards are presented in Chapter 700 of the SRC, section 700.025.

density residential development. According to the Oregon Housing and Community Services' Manufactured Dwelling Park Directory,¹⁸ Salem has 45 manufactured home parks with 3,637 spaces and 176 vacant spaces

ORS 197.480(2) requires Salem to project need for mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks based on: (1) population projections, (2) household income levels, (3) housing market trends, and (4) an inventory of manufactured dwelling parks sited in areas planned and zoned or generally used for commercial, industrial or high density residential.

- Table 3shows that the Salem planning area will grow by 23,555 dwelling units over the 2015 to 2035 period.
- Analysis of housing affordability (in Table 8) shows that about 33% of Salem's new households will be low income, earning 50% or less of the region's median family income. One type of housing affordable to these households is manufactured housing.
- Manufactured housing in parks accounts for about 6% (about 3,460 dwelling units) of Salem's current housing stock.
- National, state, and regional trends during the 2000 to 2010 period showed that manufactured housing parks were closing, rather than being created. For example, between 2003 and 2010, Oregon had a statewide decrease of 25% in the number of manufactured home parks. Two manufactured home parks closed in Salem since 2000: the Herrin Pointe Estates (with 40 spaces) closed in 2003 and Riverside Trailer Park (with 26 spaces) closed in 2008.
- The longer-term trend for closing manufactured home parks is the result of manufactured home park landowners selling or redeveloping their land for uses with higher rates of return, rather than lack of demand for spaces in manufactured home parks. Manufactured home parks contribute to the supply of lower-cost affordable housing options, especially for affordable homeownership. The trend in closure of manufactured home parks increases the shortage of manufactured home park spaces. Without some form of public investment to encourage continued operation of existing manufactured home parks and construction of new manufactured home parks, this shortage will continue.

Table 8 shows that the households most likely to live in manufactured

¹⁸ Oregon Housing and Community Services, Oregon Manufactured Dwelling Park Directory, http://o.hcs.state.or.us/MDPCRParks/ParkDirQuery.jsp

homes in parks are those with incomes between \$18,000 and \$30,000 (30% to 50% of median family income). Assuming that about 5% of Salem's new single-family detached households (14,013 new dwellings) choose to live in manufactured housing parks, the City may need about 700 new manufactured home spaces. At an average of 8 dwelling units per net acre, this results in demand for about 85 acres of land.

The City allows development of manufactured housing parks in residential zones, except the RD and RH zones, through a manufactured dwelling park permit. The City has about 5,000 vacant suitable buildable acres of land in single-family zones.

However, development of a new manufactured home park in Salem over the planning period may be unlikely, given the trend towards closing manufactured home parks. The land needed for development of a manufactured housing park is part of the forecast in Table 6.

STEP 6: ESTIMATE THE NUMBER OF ADDITIONAL NEEDED UNITS BY STRUCTURE TYPE

Step five of the housing needs assessment results in an estimate of need for housing by income and housing type. This requires some estimate of the income distribution of future households in the community. ECO developed these estimates based on (1) secondary data from the Census, and (2) analysis by ECONorthwest.

The next step in the analysis is to relate income levels to tenure and structure type. Table 7 shows tenure by structure type from the 2012 Census. Table 7 shows an estimate of needed housing by structure type and tenure for the 2015-2035 planning period. The housing needs analysis assumes that homeownership rates will not change substantially in the future, with an average of 55% owneroccupied units and 45% renter occupied units in Salem.

	Owner-O	ccupied	Renter-C	Occupied	Total		
Structure Type	New DU by Type	Percent by Type	New DU by Type	Percent by Type	New DU by Type	Percent of Total DU	
Single-family detached	11,210	80%	2,803	20%	14,013	60%	
Single-family attached	350	30%	818	70%	1,168	5%	
Multifamily	1,226	15%	6,948	85%	8,174	35%	
Total	12,786	55%	10,569	45%	23,355		

Table 7. Estimate of needed dwelling units by type and tenure, Salem, 2015-2035

Source: ECONorthwest

Note: DU is dwelling unit.

The next step in estimating units by structure type is to evaluate income as it relates to housing affordability. Table 8 shows an estimate of needed dwelling units by income level for the 2015-2035 period. The analysis uses market segments consistent with HUD income level categories.

The analysis shows that about 49% of households in Salem could be considered high or upper-middle income in 2012 and that about 48% of the housing need in the 2015-2035 period will derive from households in these categories. The analysis also shows that 52% of Salem's households could be considered lower-middle, low, or very low income in 2012 and that about 52% of the housing need in the 2015-2035 period will derive from households in these categories.

		New Households 2015- 2025		Financially Atta	inable Products	
Market Segment by Income	Income range	Number of Households	Percent of Households	Owner-occupied	Renter-occupied	
High (120% or more of MFI)	\$72,000 or more	6,306	27%	All housing types; higher prices	Al housing types; higher prices	Î
Upper Middle (80%- 120% of MFI)	\$48,000 to \$72,000	4,905	21%	All housing types; lower values	All housing types; lower values	Primarily New Housing
Lower Middle (50%- 80% of MFI	\$30,000 to \$48,000	4,437	19%	Manufactured on lots; single- family attached; duplexes	Single-family attached; detached; manufactured on lots; apartments	Primarily Existing Housing
Low (30%50% or less of MFI)	\$18,000 to \$30,000	3,036	13%	Manufactured in parks	Apartments; manufactured in parks; duplexes	
Very Low (Less than 30% of MFI)	Less than \$18,000	4,671	20%	None	Apartments; new and used government assisted housing	

Table 8. Estimate of needed dwelling units by income level, Salem, 2015-2035

Source: Analysis by ECONorthwest;

Number of households by income range from the 2012 American Community Survey, Table B19001 Income range based on HUD's 2012 Median Family Income of \$60,000

5 Residential Land Sufficiency

This chapter presents an evaluation of the sufficiency of vacant residential land in Salem to accommodate expected residential growth over the 2015 to 2035 period. This chapter includes an estimate of residential development capacity (measured in new dwelling units) and an estimate of Salem's ability to accommodate needed new housing units for the 2015 to 2035 period, based on the analysis in the housing needs analysis. The chapter includes conclusions and recommendations, based on the results of the housing needs analysis.

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT CAPACITY

This section presents a summary of the analysis used to estimate Salem's residential development capacity.

Framework for the capacity analysis

The BLI provides a *supply* analysis (buildable land by type) and the preceding section provides a *demand* analysis (population and growth leading to demand for more residential development). The comparison of supply and demand allows the determination of land sufficiency.

There are two ways to get estimates of supply and demand into common units of measurement so that they can be compared: (1) housing demand can be converted into acres, or (2) residential land supply can be converted into dwelling units. A complication of either approach is that not all land has the same characteristics. Factors such as plan designation, slope, parcel size and shape, can all affect the ability of land to accommodate housing. Methods that recognize this fact are more robust and produce more realistic results. This analysis uses the second approach: it estimates the ability of vacant residential lands within the UGB to accommodate new housing. This analysis, sometimes called a "capacity analysis,"¹⁹ can be used to evaluate different ways that vacant residential land may build out by applying different assumptions.

¹⁹ There is ambiguity in the term *capacity analysis*. It would not be unreasonable for one to say that the "capacity" of vacant land is the maximum number of dwellings that could be built based on density limits defined legally by plan designation or zoning, and that development usually occurs—for physical and market reasons—at something less than full capacity. For that reason, we have used the longer phrase to describe our analysis: "estimating how many new dwelling units the vacant residential land in the UGB is likely to accommodate." That phrase is, however, cumbersome, and it is common in Oregon and elsewhere to refer to that type of analysis as "capacity analysis," so we use that shorthand occasionally in this memorandum.

Capacity analysis results

The capacity analysis estimates the development potential of vacant residential land to accommodate new housing based on the needed densities by the housing type categories shown in Table 5.

Table 10 shows that **Salem vacant** <u>residential</u> land has capacity to accommodate approximately 27,325 new dwelling units, based on the following assumptions:

- **Buildable residential land.** The capacity estimates build from the number of buildable acres in residential plan designations as shown in Chapter 2.
- **Capacity deductions.** The buildable land inventory makes deductions for constrained lands that are considered unbuildable. The capacity analysis makes additional deductions for lands that are in slopes between 5% and 25%. The deductions are based on empirical analysis of existing residential development in Salem and Keizer, developed in the *Salem-Keizer Regional Housing Needs Analysis 2012-2032*.

The Regional HNA study found that dwellings built on slopes between 5% to 25% slope were built at about 70% of the density of dwellings built on flat land or land with slopes of up to 5%. Land with slopes greater than 25% is assumed to have no development capacity.

The capacity analysis assumes that land with a slope up to 5% can be developed at the full needed densities (in Table 5). Land with slopes of 5% to 25% is assumed to have 70% of the capacity of the needed densities.

- Needed densities. The capacity analysis assumes development will occur at needed densities (as opposed to historical observed densities). Those densities were derived from historical development densities and the needed densities shown in Table 5. They are as follows:
 - Single-Family (SF) and Developing Residential (DR). The assumed density for SF was 7.3 and for DR was 6.6 dwelling units per net acre (before deductions for slopes).
 - Multifamily Residential (MF). The assumed density for MF was 18.5 dwelling units per net acre (before deductions for slopes).
 - Mixed-use. Capacity in mixed use areas is shown in Table 11.
- Land for rights-of-way. The capacity analysis also uses net-to-gross factors to make deductions for right of way. The assumption for the conversion from net-to-gross acres is based on analysis in the *Salem*-

Keizer Regional Housing Needs Analysis 2012-2032.

Table 9 shows that the base factors are 20% for single-family designations and 15% for multifamily designations. The net-to-gross factors are also scaled by lot size. Lots under 1 acre are assumed to require no additional right-of-way. Lots between 1 and 5 acres are assumed to need 70% of the base right-of way factor (e.g., they require 30% less right-of-way than lots over 5 acres). Lots over 5 acres are assumed to require 100% of the base right-of-way assumption.

	Lot Size	
<1 ac	1-5 ac	5+ ac
0%	14%	20%
0%	14%	20%
0%	11%	15%
	<1 ac 0% 0% 0%	Lot Size <1 ac 1-5 ac 0% 14% 0% 14% 0% 14% 0% 11%

Table 9. Net-to-gross factors used for the capacity analysis

Source: ECONorthwest

Table 10 presents the residential capacity estimates based on the assumptions described above. The results show that Salem has capacity for 27,325 dwellings (22,923 dwelling units in SF and DR and 4,402 in MF).

The primary reason that the derived densities in Table 10 are lower than the needed densities (in Table 5) is density deductions for land on slopes. About 70% of Salem's land in SF and DR and about 50% of MF land is on slopes of 5% to 25%. In addition, 25% of land in SF and DR and 50% of land in MF are on lots smaller than 5 acres, which have lower or no land needed for rights-of-way.

		DU Capacity by Slope			
Plan Designation	Buildable Acres	0-5%	5%-25%	Capacity (dwelling units)	Derived Density (DU/ GRA)
SF	1,347	4,391	3,172	7,563	5.6
DR	3,611	4,711	10,649	15,360	4.3
MF	313	2,649	1,753	4,402	14.0
Total	5,271	11,751	15,574	27,325	5.2

Table 10. Estimated housing development potential on vacant residential lands,number of dwelling units, Salem portion of the UGB

Source: ECONorthwest

Note: lands with over 25% slope were considered unbuildable in the BLI

Note: In Salem, new development SF includes capacity on vacant land in SF and DR. There is more than 3,600 acres of buildable land in DR.

Note: DU is dwelling unit.

Table 11 shows the estimated capacity in mixed-use and commercial areas that allow residential development. The assumptions in Table 11 are based on:

- **MU (Fairview).** This is the Fairview Mixed-use area. The assumptions in Table 11 are based on estimates of development capacity in the Fairview Master Plan, in the Traffic Impact Analysis.²⁰
- **MU (West Salem).** This is the approximately 12 acres of Mixed-Use land in West Salem, which is zoned for Neighborhood Center Mixed-Use. Table 11 assumes that 10 of the vacant acres will be available for residential development at a density of 7.3 dwelling units per acre. This density assumption is consistent with the density of development in SF because the majority of housing likely to be developed in this area is likely to be single-family housing types.
- **ROM.** This area includes about 3.7 vacant acres zoned for RH in ROM. Table 11 assumes a development density of 25.9 dwelling units per acre on this land, consistent with mixed-use development in commercial zones over the 1999 to 2013 period. This density is appropriate because development in this area is expected to be denser mixed-use development.

In addition, this area also includes the approximately 3.4-acre south block of the former Boise Cascade site. The Salem Planning Division recently granted site plan review and design review approval on this site, where the developer plans to build 115 residential units.²¹

• **Commercial.** Over the 1999 to 2013 period, Salem had development of 222 dwelling units in Commercial designations as part of mixed-use development. On average, this development resulted in the addition of 14.8 dwelling units per year. Assuming this development rate continues through the planning period, Salem will add another approximately 296 dwellings as part of mixed-use buildings on commercial land.

Based on these assumptions, Salem has capacity for an additional 903 single-family detached units and 1,361 single-family attached and multifamily units.

²⁰ The Fairview Master Plan is available at:

http://www.cityofsalem.net/Departments/CommunityDevelopment/Planning/FairviewMasterPlan/Pages/default.aspx

²¹ As of the date of this report, the developer had applied to construct an additional 70 dwelling units as part of a proposed future phase of the mixed-use development at the former Boise Cascade site.

Capacity (dwelling units)
830
856
73
209
296
2,264
903
1,361

 Table 11. Estimated capacity in areas designated for

 mixed-use and commercial uses, Salem portion of the UGB

Source: ECONorthwest

The estimated capacity in Table 10 and Table 11 includes assumptions about infill and redevelopment occurring in Salem over the 2015 to 2035 period. More than half of the capacity in the SF and DR designations is from partially vacant land. We assume that, over the 20-year period, that much of the partially vacant land will infill and develop at urban densities. In addition, we assume that redevelopment in the MU designations will occur, both on the Fairview and a portion of the former Boise Cascade site.
RESIDENTIAL LAND SUFFICIENCY

The last step in the analysis of the sufficiency of residential land within Salem is to compare the demand for land by Plan Designation (Table 6) with the capacity of land by Plan Designation (Table 10 and Table 11). Table 12 shows:

- **Single–Family and Developing Residential.** Salem has surplus capacity for about 9,130 dwelling units in these plan designations.
- Multi-Family Residential. Salem has a deficit of land for nearly 2,900 dwelling units in the Multi-Family Residential designation. At an average density of 14 dwelling units per gross acre (the density used in the capacity analysis, accounting for density deductions for slopes and land for rights-of-way), Salem has a deficit of about 207 gross acres of land in Multi-Family Residential.
- **Mixed-Use and Commercial.** The estimate of land demand in Mixed-Use and Commercial designations (Table 11) was based on the estimated capacity in these designations. As a result, Table 12 shows no surplus or deficit of land needed in these designations.

			Sufficiency La	of Residential and
Housing Type / Plan Designation	Capacity (DU)	Housing Demand (DU)	DU Surplus or (Deficit)	Land Surplus or (Deficit) (gross acres)
Single-Family and Developing Residential	22,923	13,792	9,131	1,975
Multi-Family Residential	4,402	7,299	(2,897)	(207)
Mixed-Use and Commercial	2,264	2,264	0	

Table 12. Comparison of capacity of existing residential land with demand for new dwelling units, Salem portion of the UGB, 2015-2035

Source: ECONorthwest Note: DU is dwelling unit.

Salem's economic opportunities analysis showed a need for 59 acres of land to accommodate employment growth over 2015 to 2035. Much of this land would likely be needed for retail and services in neighborhood centers, such as grocery stores, banks, or small doctors' offices. As a result, the surplus of 1,975 acres of Single-family and Developing Residential land would decrease by 59 acres to 1,916 acres.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The key finding of the HNA is that Salem has a deficit of about 207 acres of land in the Multi-Family plan designation. The deficit of multifamily land is an ongoing problem and was documented in the *Salem-Keizer Regional Housing Needs Analysis* 2012-2032.

Salem will need to take action to address this land deficiency before adopting the housing needs analysis, based on our interpretation of the McMinnville decision (Friends Of Yamhill County, Community Development Law Center And 1000 Friends Of Oregon, vs. City Of McMinnville, LUBA No. 2001-093).²² In that case, LUBA concluded that the City of McMinnville erred by adopting a housing needs analysis as a post-acknowledgement plan amendment independent of addressing land need deficiencies identified in the HNA.

In the context of this issue and the conditions in Salem, we offer the following recommendations about how Salem can address its Multi-Family land deficit and the need for more affordable housing in Salem. The recommendations below are discussed in detail in the *Residential Implementation Strategy* memorandum.

• Redesignate or rezone land to Multi-Family. Salem's biggest opportunity to address the deficit of Multi-Family land will be through redesignating land from SF (or possibly DR) to MF. There may be opportunities to upzone existing residential land to increase capacity, such as from RM1 to RM2.

Redesignating or rezoning land will be a complex process. We recommend the City form an advisory group to work with City staff to identify opportunities to redesignate land from the Single-Family Residential Designation (SF) to the Multi-Family Residential Designation (MF). The process should result in city-initiated plan amendment(s) and zone change(s) to address the multifamily land deficit.

• Evaluate tools to increase redevelopment activity and mixed-use development. Another important way to address the deficit of multifamily land is through increasing redevelopment activity or mixed-use development. Residential redevelopment typically occurs in areas with single-family, where zoning allows denser development. Salem has a number of well-established single-family neighborhoods where the zoning allows denser development. Within this 20-year planning period, these areas may not offer the best opportunities for redevelopment to higher-density housing.

²² http://www.oregon.gov/LUBA/docs/opinions/2001/12-01/01093.pdf

Salem's primary redevelopment opportunities are in commercial areas or redeveloping industrial areas, with opportunities for mixed-use development that includes multifamily development. Examples of redevelopment in Salem are the redevelopment of a portion of the former Boise-Cascade site, with a mixed-use development that has been approved to include 115 multifamily dwellings. The Fairview Mixed-Use area is a redevelopment that includes about 1,600 dwelling units as part of a master planned area.²³

The *Residential Implementation Strategy* memorandum discusses potential tools to increase residential redevelopment activity.

- Increase land available for multifamily housing types in single-family designations. One approach to addressing a portion of the deficit of Multi-Family land is to increase opportunities for development of townhouses, duplexes, tri-plexes, and quad-plexes in the Single-Family and (possibly) Developing Residential designations. These types of multifamily housing are generally compatible with single-family detached housing.
- Lower barriers to multifamily development. Salem's residential development policies may create barriers to multifamily development. Some opportunities to lower these barriers are: revising the City's PUD ordinance to allow for more flexibility; creating alternative approaches to complying with the City's design standards; and simplifying or clarifying Comprehensive Plan policies that guide redesignating or rezoning of land for multifamily housing. These strategies are discussed in detail in the *Residential Implementation Strategy* memorandum.
- Increase opportunities for development of affordable housing. Salem has a substantial need for affordable housing, both for low- and moderate-income households. Some approaches to increase affordable housing development include: allowing accessory dwelling units in single-family areas; developing and implementing affordable housing policies and strategies; and creating an affordable housing committee that is responsible for developing affordable housing policies and strategies and reporting on progress on affordable housing development.
- Monitor and report on multifamily development activity and land sufficiency. The City should monitor and report on the deficit of multifamily land, tracking land redesignations and rezonings, and multifamily development. Monitoring can help the City understand the

²³ Note that both of these redevelopment opportunities were considered in the capacity analysis.

market demand for multifamily and other housing types, allowing the City to better respond to the market. Monitoring also allows the City to track the amount of residential development and land availability, as part of ensuring a long-term supply of all types of residential land.

Appendix A. Appendix A. Residential Buildable Lands Inventory

In 2011, the Mid-Willamette Valley Council of Governments (MWVCOG) completed an inventory of buildable residential lands located within the Salem Keizer Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) as part of the regional housing needs assessment. The COG inventory estimated how much residential land was currently available for development. The inventory also addresses requirements for buildable land inventories found in statewide planning goals 10 (Housing) and 14 (Urbanization).

ECO updated the 2011 inventory using 2014 data for this report. The approach generally follows the methods used by the MVWCOG in the 2011 inventory. This chapter provides an overview of the buildable land inventory methodology and results.

OVERVIEW OF THE METHODOLOGY

The buildable land inventory for the Housing Needs Analysis was completed through two (2) general phases of analysis. Phase One included an analysis of whether or not land was considered to be vacant or developed. Phase Two included an analysis of constrained land that was deducted from the inventory of buildable land.

For the purposes of this study, the following definitions were used:

Developed Land – properties with improvements that are considered committed to existing uses for the 20-year planning period.

Vacant Land - properties with no current development and available for future employment development. The inventory included all land designated for residential uses and as a result is more comprehensive (e.g., includes more land) than would be inventoried using the standard definitions of vacant land in OAR 660-009-0005(14).

Partially Vacant Land – properties that are partially vacant (e.g., partially developed) in the baseline inventory with a residential use and by the criteria developed for this study could support additional development.

Excluded – properties where the existing land use excludes or essentially precludes any future development. Examples include publicly owned lands; designated open spaces; GIS parcels representing water bodies;

power lines, electrical substations, water towers or reservoirs, etc.; and airport expansion areas. Publicly-owned lands were evaluated and many (not all) were excluded because they are not intended to convert to residential use during the planning period.

Constrained land includes land that is not available for development based upon one or more factors such as, environmental protections, or lands committed for public use. Constrained land was deducted from the buildable land inventory in order to determine the amount of unconstrained "buildable acres" available for development over the planning horizon. The following constraints were identified and excluded from the buildable land inventory:

- Publicly owned lands, not intended for residential use,
- Designated open spaces,
- Utilities (e.g. power lines, electric substations, water towers, reservoirs, wastewater facility and treatment plant),
- Floodways,
- Wetlands,
- Water bodies and water features,
- Riparian corridors (defined as 25 feet on either side of open mapped waterways), and
- Slopes greater than 25 percent.

The inventory was completed primarily using Geographic Information Systems (GIS) mapping technology. The output of this analysis is a database of land inventory information, which is summarized in both tabular and map format. Although data for the inventory was gathered and evaluated at the parcel level, the inventory does not present a parcel-level analysis of lot availability and suitability. The results of the inventory have been aggregated by comprehensive plan designations, consistent with state planning requirements. As such, the inventory is considered to be accurate in the aggregate only and not at the parcel-level.

The Residential Buildable Land Inventory includes a review of the following residential and mixed-use comprehensive plan designations:

- Single Family Residential (SF)
- Multi-Family Residential (MF)
- Developing Residential (DR)
- Mixed Use (MU)
- River-Oriented Mixed Use (ROM)

Map A-1 shows lands in residential plan designations in the Salem UGB.





RESIDENTIAL BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY RESULTS

Table A-1 shows residential land in Salem by classification (development status). The results show that Salem has 17,659 acres in residential plan designations (including mixed-use designations that allow residential development). By classification, about 62% of the land is developed, 22% partially vacant, and 17% vacant. About 83% of residential land is in single-family designations (DR and SF); 14% in the multifamily designation and 3% in mixed-use designations (MU and ROM).

		Plan Designation					Percent of
Development Status	DR	MF	SF	MU	ROM	Total	Total
Developed	1,405	2,191	7,179	33	75	10,883	62%
Partially Vacant	2,401	76	1,286	46		3,810	22%
Vacant	1,753	276	662	227	49	2,966	17%
Total	5,559	2,543	9,127	306	124	17,659	100%
Percent of Total	31%	14%	52%	2%	1%	100%	

Table A-1. Residential Land by Classification, Salem UGB, 2014

Source: ECONorthwest analysis of City of Salem GIS data

Note: DR=developing residential; MF = multifamily residential; SF=single-family residential; MU=mixed use; ROM=river oriented mixed use.

Table A-2 shows land in all residential and mixed-use plan designations by development and constraint status. Salem has 17,569 acres in 53,722 tax lots in residential and mixed-use plan designations. About 63% of total residential and mixed-use land (11,202 acres) is developed, 5% (919 acres) is constrained, and 31% (5,538 acres) is buildable acres. Notably, 90% of buildable land is in single-family (DR and SF) plan designations.

Table A-2. Residential Land by Plan Designation

		Total	Developed	Constrained	Buildable
Plan Designation	Tax Lots	Acres	Acres	Acres	Acres
DR - Developing residential	6,871	5,559	1,549	399	3,611
MF - Multifamily	6,116	2,543	2,144	85	313
MU - Mixed Use	193	306	3	43	260
ROM - River oriented mixed-use	231	124	62	54	7
SF - Single-family	40,291	9,127	7,443	337	1,347
Total	53,722	17,659	11,202	919	5,538
Percent of Total		100%	63%	5%	31%

Source: ECONorthwest analysis of City of Salem GIS data

Table A-3 shows buildable acres (e.g., acres in taxlots after constraints are deducted) for vacant and partially vacant land by plan designation. The results show that Salem has about 5,538 buildable residential acres (including areas in mixed-use plan designations). Of this, about half is in tax lots classified as vacant, and half is in tax lots classified as partially vacant. Nearly two-thirds of the buildable land (3,611 acres) is in the developing residential plan designation, and 24% (1,347 acres) is in the single-family residential plan designation. Six percent

(313 acres) is in the multifamily plan designation with the remaining acreage in mixed-use designations (MU and ROM).

	Plan Designation						Percent of
Development Status	DR	MF	MU	ROM	SF	Total	Total
Partially Vacant	2,027	56	45		752	2,880	52%
Vacant	1,584	258	215	7	595	2,658	48%
Total	3,611	313	260	7	1,347	5,538	100%
Percent of Total	65%	6%	5%	0%	24%	100%	

Table A-3. Buildable acres in vacant and partially vacant tax lots by plandesignation, Salem UGB, 2014

Source: ECONorthwest analysis of City of Salem GIS data

Chapter 5 of the report presents the analysis of capacity of buildable vacant and partially vacant lands in Salem. The capacity analysis also includes analysis of capacity of commercial land to accommodate residential development - through development of mixed-use buildings - on vacant and redevelopable lands.

Table 11 (in Chapter 5) shows residential development capacity on commercial land in the Mixed-Use designation, the River-Oriented Mixed Use zone, and on land designated for commercial uses.













Appendix B. Appendix B. Trends Affecting Housing Need in Salem

HISTORICAL AND RECENT DEVELOPMENT TRENDS

Analysis of historical development trends in Salem provides insights into how the local housing market functions. The intent of the analysis is to understand how local market dynamics may affect future housing—particularly the mix and density of housing by type. The housing mix and density by type are also key variables in forecasting future land need. Moreover, such an analysis is required by ORS 197.296. The specific steps are described in Task 2 of the DLCD *Planning for Residential Lands* Workbook:

- 1. Determine the time period for which the data must be gathered
- 2. Identify types of housing to address (at a minimum, all needed housing types identified in ORS 197.303)
- 3. Evaluate permit/subdivision data to calculate the actual mix, average actual gross density, and average actual net density of all housing types

ORS 197.296 requires the analysis of housing mix and density to include the past five years or since the most recent periodic review, whichever time period is greater.²⁴ Salem completed periodic review in 2009. The period used in the analysis of housing density and mix is 1999 to 2012, which includes both times of high housing production and times of low housing production. This reasons for choosing this period were: (1) Salem recently completed periodic review and a review of housing development trends since 2009 would only include the largest post-World War II downturn in the housing market; (2) the 1999 to 2013 period includes more than one economic cycles, with extreme highs and extreme lows to the housing market; (3) and data prior to 1999 was less reliable and not directly comparable to data for the 1999 to 2013 period.

The housing needs analysis presents information about residential development by housing types. For the purposes of this study, we grouped housing types based on: (1) whether the structure is stand-alone or attached to another

²⁴ Specifically, ORS 197.296(5) (b) states: "A local government shall make the determination described in paragraph (a) of this subsection using a shorter time period than the time period described in paragraph (a) of this subsection if the local government finds that the shorter time period will provide more accurate and reliable data related to housing capacity and need. The shorter time period may not be less than three years."

structure and (2) the number of dwelling units in each structure. The housing types used in this analysis are:

- **Single-family detached** includes single-family detached units and manufactured homes on lots and in mobile home parks.
- **Single-family attached** is all structures with a common wall where each dwelling unit occupies a separate lot, such as row houses or townhouses.
- **Multifamily** is all attached structures other than single-family detached units, manufactured units, or single-family attached units.

The reason for choosing these categories of housing type for the analysis is that they meet the requirements definition of needed housing types in ORS 197.303.²⁵

Data used in this analysis

Throughout this analysis, we use data from multiple sources, choosing data from well-recognized and reliable data sources. One of the key sources for data about housing and household data is the U.S. Census. This report primarily uses data from two Census sources:

- The **Decennial Census**, which is completed every ten years and is a survey of <u>all</u> households in the U.S. The Decennial Census is considered the best available data for information such as demographics (e.g., number of people, age distribution, or ethnic or racial composition), household characteristics (e.g., household size and composition), and housing occupancy characteristics. As of the 2010 Decennial Census, it does not collect more detailed household information, such as income, housing costs, housing characteristics, and other important household information. Decennial Census data is available for 1990, 2000, and 2010.
- The American Community Survey (ACS), which is completed every year and is a <u>sample</u> of households in the U.S. The 2012 ACS sampled about 3.5 million households in 2012 or about 2.5% of the households in the nation. The ACS collects detailed information about households, such as: demographics (e.g., number of people, age distribution, ethnic or racial composition, country of origin, language spoken at home, and educational attainment), household characteristics (e.g., household size and composition), housing characteristics (e.g., type of housing unit, year

²⁵ The analysis of development in Salem combines single-family detached and single-family attached housing because the City's building permit system does not distinguish between these two types of housing.

unit built, or number of bedrooms), housing costs (e.g., rent, mortgage, utility, and insurance), housing value, income, and other characteristics.

In general, this report uses data from the 2012 ACS for Salem. Where information is available, we report information from the 2010 Decennial Census.

Trends in housing mix in Salem

Figure B-1 shows change in the mix of housing stock for Salem (city limits) in 1990, 2000, and 2008 to 2012 based on U.S. Census data. Salem's mixture of housing had remained relatively stable since 1990, with about 65% of Salem's housing in single-family detached housing types. About 5% of Salem's housing stock is single-family attached and 30% is multifamily. The variation in the precise share of housing types is a result of the fact that the Census and American Community Survey are based on a survey of households, rather than substantial changes in Salem's housing stock.



Figure B-1. Dwelling units by type, percentage of all housing stock, Salem, 1990, 2000, 2008 to 2012

Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF3 Table H30, American Community Survey 2012 Table B25024

Table B-1 shows information about building permits issued in Salem for new dwelling units. The information is separated into two time periods: 1999 to 2009 and 2010 to 2013. The reason for this separation is that the analysis for 1999 to 2009 was part of the Regional HNA. The more recent period, 2010 to 2013, is new information. Also note that the Regional HNA did not include analysis of

multifamily housing built as part of mixed-use buildings. Table B-1 presents this information for the entire 1999 to 2013 period.²⁶

Table B-1 and Figure B-2 show that the mix of housing developed over the 1999 to 2009 period was predominantly single-family housing (including single-family detached, single-family attached, and manufactured housing). Over the 2010 to 2013 period, the majority of housing permitted was multifamily housing. This is consistent with regional, state, and national trends for residential development during that period.

Over the entire 1999 to 2013 period, Salem issued permits for nearly 11,600 dwelling units, with about 770 permits issued per year. About 69% of dwellings permitted were single-family (detached, attached, and manufactured) and 31% were multifamily.

	1999 - 4	2009	2010 -	2013	IOTAL 1999 TO 2013		
-		Percent of		Percent of		Percent of	
Unit Type	Units	Total	Units	Total	Units	Total	
Single-Family	6,955	73%	1,008	54%	7,963	69%	
Multifamily	2,530	27%	868	46%	3,620	31%	
Multifamily	2,530	27%	868	46%	3,398	29%	
MF in a Mixed Use Building	Buildings de	eveloped over	the 1999 to 20	013 period	222	2%	
Total	9,485	100%	1,876	100%	11,583	100%	
Courses Colore Building Dermit	Databasa						

Table B-1. Building permits by type of unit, Salem portion of the UGB, 1999 to 2013

Source: Salem Building Permit Database

Notes: Salem's building permit data combines single-family detached and single-family attached into one category. The Regional Housing Needs Analysis did not include analysis of multifamily dwellings built in mixed-use buildings. Rather than attempt to incorporate this information into the prior analysis (for 1999 to 2009) we present it for the entire 1999 to 2013 period.

²⁶ There were ten mixed use projects in Salem that included multifamily housing. These buildings incorporated between six and 55 multifamily dwellings. Other uses in the buildings ranged from a retail space, a grocery store, office space, medical offices, and other commercial uses.



Figure B-2. Building permits by type of unit, Salem portion of the UGB, 1999 to 2013

Source: Salem Building Permit Database

Notes: Salem's building permit data combines single-family detached and single-family attached into one category. This figure excludes building permits for multifamily dwellings built in mixed-use buildings.

Trends in Tenure

Table B-2 and Figure B-3 show change in tenure (owner versus renter occupied housing units) for the City of Salem over the 2000 to 2010 period. The overall homeownership rate declined slightly, from 57% to 56%, over the ten-year period, while renting increased by 1%. The number of owner occupied housing units increased by about 10% during this period, while rentals increased by 17%.

	20	00	20	10	Change 2000-2010		
	Units	Percent	Units	Percent	Units	Percent	
Owner Occupied	28,879	57%	31,904	56%	3,025	10%	
Renter Occupied	21,766	43%	25,386	44%	3,620	17%	
Total	50,645	100%	57,290	100%	6,645	13%	

Table B-2. Change in tenure,	occupied units,	, Salem,	2000	to	20	10
------------------------------	-----------------	----------	------	----	----	----

Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF3 Table H032, .S. Census 2010, SF1 Table QT-H2

Note: The number of dwelling units shown in Table B-1, Table B-2, Figure B-1, and Table B-3 differ because they display different information. Table B-1 shows all units, Table B-2 and Figure B-1 show occupied units, and Table B-3 shows occupied units where housing type is known.



Figure B-3. Tenure, occupied units, Salem, 2000 to 2010

Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF3 Table H032, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 Table QT-H2

Note: The number of dwelling units shown in Table B-1, Table B-2, Figure B-1, and Table B-3 differ because they display different information. Table B-1 shows all units, Table B-2 and Figure B-1 show occupied units, and Table B-3 shows occupied units where housing type is known

Table B-3 and Figure B-4 show the types of dwelling in Salem in 2012 by tenure (owner/renter-occupied). The results indicate that in Salem single-family housing types are most frequently owner-occupied (54% of all housing is single-family, owner-occupied housing) and multi-family housing is most frequently renter occupied (26% of all housing is multi-family renter-occupied housing).

	Owner Occupied		Renter 0	ccupied	All Dwellings		
	Number	Percent by type	Number	Percent by type	Number	Percent	
Single-family detached	30,281	96%	8,490	33%	38,771	68%	
Single-family attached	722	2%	2,475	10%	3,197	6%	
Multi-family	488	2%	14,467	57%	14,955	26%	
Total	31,491	100%	25,432	100%	56,923	100%	

Table B-3.	Housing	units by	type and	tenure,	Salem,	2012
				,	,	

Source: American Community Survey 2012 Table B25032

Note: The number of dwelling units shown in Table B-1, Table B-2, Figure B-1, and Table B-3 differ because they display different information. Table B-1 shows all units, Table B-2 and Figure B-1 show occupied units, and Table B-3 shows occupied units where housing type is known



Figure B-4. Housing units by type and tenure, Salem, 2012

Source: American Community Survey 2012 Table B25032

Vacancy Rates

Table B-4 shows vacancy rates in Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, and Salem between 2000 and 2010. Vacancy rates increased in each jurisdiction during this period, and as of 2010, Salem had a relatively low vacancy rate (6.5%) compared to the Salem MSA (Marion and Polk Counties combined, 6.6%) and Oregon (9.3%).

Polk County, Salem, 2000 to 2010								
	Oregon	Marion	Polk	Salem				
	_	County	County					
2000	8.2%	6.0%	5.7%	5.8%				
2010	9.3%	6.6%	6.6%	6.5%				
Source: U.S. Cer	sus 2000 SF1 T	able H3, U.	S. Census 2	2010 SF1	Table			

Table B-4. Vacancy rate, Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, Salem, 2000 to 2010

Density

Housing density is the density of housing by structure type, expressed in dwelling units per net or gross acre.²⁷ Like housing mix, State law requires determination of housing density based on analysis of data and suggests using an analysis of housing density developed over the past five years or since the most recent periodic review, whichever time period is greater, or for a shorter or longer time period.

H3

The U.S. Census does not track residential development density. This study analyzes housing density based on new residential development within the Salem portion of the UGB between 1999 and 2013, similar to the analysis of achieved mix. The analysis of housing density uses two data sets maintained by the Mid-Willamette Council of Governments (MWCOG): (1) building permits; and (2) buildable land inventory. It included data quality assurance steps for records with very high or very low density, such as consulting aerial photographs of individual tax lots.

Table B-5 shows an analysis of residential development density (dwelling units per net acre) over the 15-year period for the Salem portion of the UGB. Table B-5 shows:

• Average density in the Salem was 8.0 dwelling units per net acre (dwelling units per net acre) over the 1999 to 2013 period.

²⁷ OAR 660-024-0010(6) uses the following definition of net buildable acre. "Net Buildable Acre" "...consists of 43,560 square feet of residentially designated buildable land after excluding future rights-of-way for streets and roads." While the administrative rule does not include a definition of a gross buildable acre, using the definition above, a gross buildable acre will include areas used for rights-of-way for streets and roads. Areas used for rights-of-way are considered unbuildable.

- Density was similar across the 15-year period, with higher density during the 2010 to 2013 period (9.4 dwelling units per net acre) than during the 1999 to 2009 period (7.7 dwelling units per net acre). One reason for higher density during 2010 to 2013 was that more multifamily dwellings were built in that period, and multifamily is denser than single-family development.
- Density was lowest in DR (6.6 dwelling units per net acre) and SF (7.3 dwelling units per net acre)
- Density in MF was 10.9 dwelling units per net acre
- Density was highest in MU and as part of a mixed-use building (16.8 and 25.9 dwelling units per net acre respectively).

Table B-5. Housing density, Salem portion of the UGB, 1999 to 2013

	19	1999 - 2009			2010 - 2013			Total 1999 to 2013		
		Net			Net			Net		
Plan Designation	Units	Acres	Density	Units	Acres	Density	Units	Cares	Density	
SF - Single-Family Residential	3,641	509	7.2	253	26	9.9	3,894	535	7.3	
DR - Developing Residential	2,653	383	6.9	312	66	4.7	2,965	449	6.6	
MF - Multi-Family Residential	2,523	251	10.0	708	44	16.0	3,231	296	10.9	
MU - Mixed Use	5	0	16.7	4	0	17.0	9	1	16.8	
CBD, COM, ROM*	Building	is develo	ped over i	the 1999) to 201	3 period	222	9	25.9	
Total	8,822	1,144	7.7	1,277	136	9.4	10,321	1,288	8.0	
Source: Salem Ruilding Permit Databa	200									

Source: Salem Building Permit Database

Notes: Salem's building permit data combines single-family detached and single-family attached into one category. The number of dwelling units permitted in Table B-5 is lower than the number shown in Table B-1 because the density analysis in Table

B-5 requires information about the location and size of the parcel where the building permit was issued. Some records for building permits did not include information about the parcel location or size.

*The Regional Housing Needs Analysis did not include analysis of multifamily dwellings built in mixed-use buildings. Rather than attempt to incorporate this information into the prior analysis (for 1999 to 2009) we present it for the entire 1999 to 2013 period.

NATIONAL HOUSING TRENDS

The overview of national, state, and local housing trends builds from previous work by ECO, Urban Land Institute (ULI) reports, and conclusions from *The State of the Nation's Housing*, 2013 report from the Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University.²⁸ The Harvard report summarizes the national housing outlook as follows:

"The long-awaited housing recovery finally took hold in 2012, heralded by rising home prices and further rental market tightening. While still at historically low levels, housing construction also turned the corner, giving the economy a muchneeded boost. But even as the most glaring problems recede, millions of homeowners are delinquent on their mortgages or owe more than their homes are worth. Worse still, the number of households with severe housing cost burdens has set a new record."

Several challenges to a strong domestic housing market remain. Demand for housing is closely tied to jobs and incomes, which are taking longer to recover than in previous cycles. While trending downward, the numbers of underwater homeowners, delinquent loans, and vacancies remain high. *The State of the Nation's Housing* report projects that it will take several years for market conditions to return to normal and, until then, the housing recovery will likely unfold at a moderate pace.

Recent trends in home ownership and demand

In 2012, housing markets began to show improvement. Existing home sales accelerated to their fastest pace since 2007, new home sales registered their first year-over-year increase since the downturn began, single-family starts increased by 24 percent, and multifamily starts climbed sharply for the second year in a row.

As of December 2012, the typical new home for sale had been on the market for just 4.7 months, down from a recession-era peak of 12.4 months, and marking the shortest lag period since December 2006. According to the Joint Center for Housing Studies, a six-month supply is a rough indicator of market balance and, with inventories down and the pace of sales accelerating, the supply of homes currently for sale is now below the six-month level that usually signals a seller's market.

²⁸ http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/research/state_nations_housing

Supplies of both new and existing homes for sale remained low in 2012, which may reflect the unwillingness or inability of owners to sell at current prices (Figure B-5). As home prices recover to levels that are more acceptable to sellers, more homes will go on the market.



Figure B-5. Inventories of Homes for Sale (thousands)

While the number of vacant for-sale and for-rent units fell in 2012 (Figure B-6), a large inventory of vacant homes was still held off market. Vacant off-market units reached a new record high of 7.4 million, or 5.6 percent of the total housing stock. Once again, it is expected that the uptick in housing prices will gradually bring more of these homes back on the market.

Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 9. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm



Figure B-6. Change in vacant units, 2000-2012 (millions)

Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 9. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm

The Joint Center for Housing Studies concludes that the housing market downturn and foreclosure crisis had an immediate and potentially lasting impact on homeownership (Figure B-7). After 13 successive years of increases, the national homeownership rate declined each year from 2005 to 2012, and is currently at approximately 65%.

It is uncertain how much farther homeownership rates will fall. For each 10-year age group between the ages of 25 and 54, the share of households owning homes is already at its lowest point since recordkeeping began in 1976. The overall homeownership rate would be much lower if not for households over the age 65, which currently have the highest rates on record, and also account for an ever-increasing share of the total population.



Figure B-7. Change in Homeownership Rate, 2005-2012 (percentage points)

Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 18. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm

In 2012, the foreclosure crisis appeared to recede. While delinquencies remain well above pre-crisis levels, they fell across all loan types (Figure B-8). In the first quarter of 2013, the share of loans at some stage of delinquency but not yet in foreclosure, declined to 7.3 percent, which is well below the 10.1 percent peak that was experienced in the first quarter of 2010.

The Joint Center for Housing Studies cautions that it is too early to declare an end to the crisis, given the backlog of homes that remain in the foreclosure pipeline. While the number of foreclosures at the end of 2012 was the lowest annual total observed since 2007, roughly 3.6 percent of all mortgages were still in foreclosure. For reference, this share is nearly five times the 1974–1999 average of 0.8 percent.



Figure B-8. Share of Loans at Least 90 Days Delinquent (Percent)

It is worth noting that rising home prices have provided some relief to underwater homeowners (i.e. those owing more on their mortgages than their homes are worth). Nationwide, the number of underwater homeowners fell 1.7 million to 10.4 million between 2011 and 2012.

Long run trends in home ownership and demand

The long-term market outlook shows that homeownership is still the preferred tenure. While further homeownership gains are likely during the next decade, they are not assured. Additional increases depend, in part, on the effect of foreclosures on potential owner's ability to purchase homes in the future, as well as whether the conditions that have led to homeownership growth can be sustained. The Urban Land Institute forecasts that homeownership will decline to the low 60 percent range by 2015.²⁹

The Joint Center for Housing Studies indicates that demand for new homes could total as many as 12 million units nationally between 2010 and 2020. The location of these homes may be different than recent trends, which favored lower-density development on the urban fringe and suburban areas. The Urban Land Institute identifies the markets that have the most growth potential are "global gateway, 24-hour markets," which are primary coastal cities with international airport hubs (e.g., Washington D.C., New York City, San Francisco,

Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 21. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm

²⁹John McIlwain, "Housing in America: The Next Decade," Urban Land Institute

or Seattle). Development in these areas may be nearer city centers, with denser infill types of development.³⁰

The Joint Center for Housing Studies also indicates that demand for higher density housing types exists among certain demographics. They conclude that because of persistent income disparities, as well as the movement of the Millennials into young adulthood, housing demand may shift away from singlefamily detached homes toward more affordable multifamily apartments, town homes, and manufactured homes.

Home rental trends

Nationally, the rental market continues to grow. In 2012, the number of households living in rental units increased by 1.1 million, marking the eighth consecutive year of expansion. The million-plus annual increases observed in 2011 and 2012 puts current growth rates on pace to easily surpass the record 5.1 million gain in the 2000s (Figure B-9).

Rental markets across the country have been tightening, pushing up rents across the majority of markets. Rental vacancy rates also continued to drop in 2012, both nationwide and in most metros. The US rental vacancy rate stood at 8.7 percent in 2012 and, while this is the lowest level observed since 2001, this was still high relative to the 7.6 percent averaged in the 1990s.

Over the longer term, the Joint Center for Housing expects demand for rental housing to continue to grow. Minorities will be the largest driver of rental demand because they are on average younger and less likely to own homes than whites. Demographics will also play a role. Growth in young adult households will increase demand for moderately priced rentals, in part because the oldest Millennials reached their late-20s around 2010. Meanwhile, growth among those between the ages of 45 and 64 will lift demand for higher-end rentals.

³⁰ Urban Land Institute, "2011 Emerging Trends in Real Estate" and "2012 Emerging Trends in Real Estate"



Figure B-9. Average Annual Growth in Renter Households (millions)

Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 23. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm

As the homeownership market recovers, the growth in renter households will likely slow. Since much of the increased demand for rental housing has been met through the conversion of single-family homes to rentals, future market adjustments may come from a return of these units to owner-occupancy. Additionally, the echo-boom generation should provide strong demand for rental units in the coming years.

Trends in housing affordability

Low interest rates and housing prices have made monthly mortgage payments for homebuyers more affordable than at any other time in the last 40 years. The National Association of Realtors (NAR) affordability index reflects the ratio of median family income to the income required to qualify for the median-priced home (Figure B-10). The index approached 200 in 2012, meaning that a household earning the median income could afford nearly twice the monthly payment on a median-priced home.



Figure B-10. Affordability Index and Mortgage Interest Rates

Households who spend at least 30% of gross household income on housing costs are considered cost burdened. Those households who spend 50% or more of gross household income on housing costs are considered severely cost burdened.

The number of households with housing cost burdens continued to climb in 2012; the latest increases in the number of severely burdened households represent a jump of 347,000 from 2010, 2.6 million from 2007 when the recession began, and 6.7 million from a decade ago. In 2012, more than one-third of American households (36%) spent more than 30% of income on housing, and 16% spent upwards of 50%.³¹

Recent increases in cost burden were almost entirely concentrated among severely burdened renters, whose numbers swelled by 2.5 million between 2007 to 2011, pushing the total share to 27.6 percent (Figure B-11). These increases also come atop the increases experienced between 2001 and 2007, when the sharp rise in house prices and the widespread availability of easy mortgage credit similarly increased the number of cost-burdened homeowners.

Given the substantial decline in home prices and low interest rates, it is notable that the incidence of cost burdens on homeowners has not fallen more dramatically. The lack of progress is perhaps reflective of the fact that many homeowners remain locked into excessive mortgage debt.

Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 19. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm

³¹ 2012 American Community Survey, Table B25091 and Table B25070.

While increasingly prevalent at all income levels, lower-income households are also more likely to be severely cost-burdened. With low-wage jobs increasing and wages for those jobs stagnating, affordability problems will persist even as a strengthening economy lifts the overall trajectory of residential investment.



Figure B-11. Number of severely burdened households 2001-2011 (millions)

2001 • 2007 • 2011

Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 23. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm

The Joint Center for Housing Studies points to widening income disparities, decreasing federal assistance, and depletion of inventory through conversion or demolition as three factors exacerbating the lack of affordable housing. While the Harvard report presents a relatively optimistic long-run outlook for housing markets and for homeownership, it points to the significant difficulties low- and moderate-income households face in finding affordable housing and preserving the affordable units that do exist.

According to the Joint Center for Housing Studies, these statistics understate the true magnitude of the affordability problem because they do not capture the tradeoffs people make to hold down their housing costs. For example, these figures exclude people who live in crowded or structurally inadequate housing units. They also exclude the growing number of households that move to locations distant from work where they can afford to pay for housing, but must spend more for transportation to work. Among households in the lowest expenditure quartile, those living in affordable housing spent an average of \$100 more on transportation per month in 2010 than those who are severely housing cost-burdened. With total average monthly outlays of only \$1,000, these extra travel costs could amount to roughly 10 percent of the entire household budget.

Demographic trends in housing preference

Demographic changes likely to affect the housing market and homeownership are:

- The aging of the baby boomers, the oldest of whom are in their late-60's in 2012.
- Immigrants and their descendants, who are a faster growing group than other households in the U.S.
- Housing choices of younger baby boomers, who are in their late 40's and early 50's in 2010
- The children of baby boomers, called the Millennials, who range from their late teens to late twenties in 2012³²

Household growth rates were particularly strong in 2012, as annual household growth approached the 1 million mark for the first time since before the Great Recession. This growth was largely fueled by the echo-boom generation (those born after 1985), who aged into their mid-20s – the age group most likely to form new households.

While the young adult population has been growing, the rate at which members of this age group form their own households has declined. As a result, household growth has not kept pace with overall population growth (Figure B-12). Even if today's low household formation rates were to persist, however, the aging of the echo-boom cohort into their 30s will likely raise household headship rates due to lifecycle effects. Half of all 30–34 year-olds head an independent household, compared with just a quarter of all 20–24 year-olds. Thus, the Millennial generation, more populous than the baby boomers, is expected to be the primary driver of new household formation over the next twenty years.

It is currently unclear what housing choices the Millennials will make. Some studies suggest that their parents' negative experience in the housing market, with housing values dropping so precipitously and so many foreclosures, will make Millennials less likely to become homeowners. In addition, high unemployment and underemployment may decrease Millennials' earning power and ability to save for a down payment. It is not clear, however, that Millennials' housing preferences will be significantly different from their parents over the long run.

³² Urban Land Institute, "2011 Emerging Trends in Real Estate"



Figure B-12. Annual growth rate (percent)

Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 23. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm

According to the Joint Center for Housing Studies, immigration will also play a key role in accelerating household growth over the next 10 years (Figure B-13). Current Population Survey estimates indicate that the number of foreign-born households rose by nearly 400,000 annually between 2001 and 2007, and accounted for nearly 30 percent of overall household growth. Beginning in 2008, the influx of immigrants was staunched by the effects of the Great Recession. After a period of declines, however, the foreign born are again contributing to household growth. Census Bureau estimates of net immigration in 2011–12 indicate an increase of 110,000 persons over the previous year, to a total of nearly 900,000.



Figure B-13. Household growth, 2006-2012 (millions)



The growing diversity of American households will have a large impact on the domestic housing markets. Over the coming decade, minorities will make up a larger share of young households, and constitute an important source of demand for both rental housing and small homes. While their housing desires are similar to whites, this group also tends to have lower incomes and wealth.

With the baby-boom population moving into the 65-and-over age group, the number of senior households will also surge in 2013– 23 (Figure B-14). The Joint Center for Housing Studies suggests that an aging population, and baby boomers in particular, will drive changes in the age distribution of households in all age groups over 55 years. A recent survey of baby boomers showed that more than a quarter plan to relocate into larger homes and 5% plan to move to smaller homes.





Source: The State of The Nation's Housing, 2013, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 16. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/son/index.htm People prefer to remain in their community as they age.³³ The challenges that aging seniors face in continuing to live in their community include: changes in healthcare needs, loss of mobility, the difficulty of home maintenance, financial concerns, and increases in property taxes.³⁴ Not all of these issues can be addressed through housing or land use policies. Communities can address some of these issues through adopting policies that:

- Diversify housing stock to allow development of smaller, comparatively easily maintained houses in single-family zones, such as single story townhouses, condominiums, and apartments.
- Allow commercial uses in residential zones, such as neighborhood markets.
- Allow a mixture of housing densities and structure types in single-family zones, such as single-family detached, single-family attached, condominiums, and apartments.
- Promote the development of group housing for seniors that are unable or choose not to continue living in a private house. These facilities could include retirement communities for active seniors, assisted living facilities, or nursing homes.
- Design public facilities so that they can be used by seniors with limited mobility. For example, design and maintain sidewalks so that they can be used by people in wheel chairs or using walkers.

³³ A survey conducted by the AARP indicates that 90% of people 50 years and older want to stay in their current home and community as they age. See <u>http://www.aarp.org/research</u>.

³⁴ "Aging in Place: A toolkit for Local Governments" by M. Scott Ball.

Trends in Housing Characteristics

Figure B-15 shows that, with few exceptions, suburban and other outlying areas grew faster than core cities during the 2000's. The number of households living in core cities decreased in 28 of the largest 100 metro areas, and was essentially flat in nine other metro areas. The number of households increased in about one-third of large metro areas.





Source: State of the Nation's Housing, 2012. The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 16. http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/research/state_nations_housing

The U.S Bureau of Census Characteristics of New Housing Report (2012) presents data that show trends in the characteristics of new housing for the nation, state, and local areas. Several long-term trends in the characteristics of housing are evident from the New Housing Report:³⁵

• Larger single-family units on smaller lots. Between 1990 and 2012 the median size of new single-family dwellings increased 21% nationally from 1,905 sq. ft. to 2,306 sq. ft. and 15% in the western region from 1,985 sq. ft. to 2,281 sq. ft. Moreover, the percentage of units under 1,400 sq. ft. nationally decreased from 16% in 1999 to 11% in 2012. The percentage of units greater than 3,000 sq. ft. increased from 17% in 1999 to 26% of new one-family homes completed in 2012. In addition to larger homes, a move towards smaller lot sizes is seen nationally. Between 1990 and 2012, the percentage of lots under 7,000 sq. ft. increased from 27% of lots to 36% of lots.

³⁵ https://www.census.gov/construction/chars/highlights.html

- Larger multifamily units. Between 1999 and 2012, the median size of new multiple family dwelling units increased by 5% nationally and 3% in the western region. The percentage of new multifamily units with more than 1,200 sq. ft. increased from 28% in 1999 to 37% in 2012 nationally, and decreased from 26% to 23% in the western region.
- More household amenities. Between 1990 and 2012, the percentage of single-family units built with amenities such as central air conditioning, 2 or more car garages, or 2 or more baths all increased. The same trend in increased amenities is seen in multifamily units.

During the recession, the trend towards larger units with more amenities faltered. Between 2007 and 2009, for example, the median size of new single-family units decreased by 6% nationally and in the western region. In addition, the share of new units with amenities (e.g., central air conditioning, fireplaces, 2 or more car garages, or 2 or more bath) all decreased slightly during this time. With the recovery, however, housing sizes have been increasing annually; median housing sizes increased by 8% between 2009 and 2012 nationwide, and 7% in the western region. The short term, post-recession trends regarding amenities are mixed, but generally appear to be increasing (albeit more slowly than housing sizes).

It appears that the decrease in unit size and amenities were a short-term trend, resulting from the housing crisis. However, numerous articles and national studies suggest that these changes may indicate a long-term change in the housing market, resulting from a combination of increased demand for rental units because of demographic changes (e.g., the aging of the baby boomers, new immigrants, and the echo-boomers), as well as changes in personal finance and availability of mortgages.³⁶

These studies may be correct and the housing market may be in the process of a long-term change, with some fluctuations over time in unit size and amenities. On the other hand, long-term demand for housing may not be substantially affected by the current housing market. The echo-boomers and new immigrants may choose single-family detached housing and mortgages may become easier to obtain.

Studies and data analysis have shown a clear linkage between demographic characteristics and housing choice. This is more typically referred to as the linkage between life-cycle and housing choice and is documented in detail in several publications. Analysis of data from the Public Use Microsample (PUMS)

³⁶ These studies include "Hope for Housing?" by Greg Filsram in the October 2010 issue of Planning and "The Elusive Small-House Utopia" by Andrew Rice in the New York Times on October 15, 2010.
in the 2000 Census helps to describe the relationship between selected demographic characteristics and housing choice. Key relationships identified through this data include:

- Homeownership rates increase as income increases;
- Homeownership rates increase as age increases;
- Choice of single-family detached housing types increases as income increases;
- Renters are much more likely to choose multiple family housing types than single-family; and
- Income is a stronger determinate of tenure and housing type choice for all age categories.

STATE DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS

Oregon's 2011-2015 Consolidated Plan includes a detailed housing needs analysis as well as strategies for addressing housing needs statewide.³⁷ The plan concludes that "Oregon's changing population demographics are having a significant impact on its housing market." It identified the following population and demographic trends that influence housing need statewide. Oregon is:

- Facing housing cost increases due to higher unemployment and lower wages, when compared to the nation
- Experiencing higher foreclosure rates since 2005, compared with the previous two decades
- Losing federal subsidies on about 8% of federally subsidized Section 8 housing units
- Losing housing value throughout the State
- Losing manufactured housing parks, with a 25% decrease in the number of manufactured home parks between 2003 and 2010
- Increasingly older, more diverse, and, has less affluent households³⁸

³⁷ http://www.ohcs.oregon.gov/OHCS/HRS_Consolidated_Plan_5yearplan.shtml

³⁸ State of Oregon *Consolidated Plan 2011 to 2015*.

http://www.oregon.gov/ohcs/hd/hrs/consplan/2011_2015_consolidated_plan.pdf

REGIONAL AND LOCAL DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS

Regional demographic trends largely follow the statewide trends discussed above, but provide additional insight into how demographic trends might affect housing in Salem. Demographic trends that might affect the key assumptions used in the baseline analysis of housing need are: (1) the aging population, (2) changes in household size and composition, and (3) increases in diversity. This section describes those trends.

The following section presents data tables. In a few places additional explanatory text is included. For the most part, the text describing the implications of the tables is in the main part of the document.

Growing population

Salem has a growing population. Table B-6 shows population growth the U.S, Oregon, Marion and Polk Counties, and Salem between 1990 and 2013.

		Population		Change 1	990 to 20)13
Area	1990	2000	2013	Number	Percent	AAGR
U.S.	248,709,873	281,421,906	316,364,000	67,654,127	27%	1.1%
Oregon	2,842,321	3,421,399	3,919,020	1,076,699	38%	1.4%
Marion County	228,483	284,834	322,880	94,397	41%	1.5%
Polk County	49,541	62,380	77,065	27,524	56%	1.9%
Salem	106,786	136,924	157,770	50,984	48%	1.7%

Table B-6. Population in the U.S., Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, Salem 1990-2013

Source: Portland State University, Population Research Center Note: AAGR is average annual growth rate.

A 20-year population forecast (in this instance, 2015 to 2035) is the foundation for estimating needed new dwelling units. On October 7, 2009, Marion County adopted a new coordinated population forecast for the urban areas of the county. That forecast includes an adopted projection of population growth in the Salem-Keizer UGB for 2010 to 2030, but does not allocate population within the UGB to the cities of Salem and Keizer.

Keizer adopted a population forecast for 2010 and 2032 on May 7, 2012.³⁹ Table B-7 shows that Keizer's adopted population forecast shows Keizer (including the Keizer portion of the Salem-Keizer UGB) growing to 48,089 people by 2032. Between 2010 and 2032, Keizer's forecast shows the city growing at an average annual growth rate of 1.26%.

³⁹ Keizer ordinance number 2012-656.

Salem's housing needs analysis requires a forecast for the 2015 to 2035 period. The steps to develop this forecast were:

- 1. Extrapolate the population growth of the Salem portion of the UGB from 2010 to 2015 at the adopted growth rate for the full UGB, 1.25% average annual growth. The result shows that the Salem portion of the UGB will have 210,035 people by 2015.
- 2. Extrapolate the Salem-Keizer UGB forecast from 2030 to 2035 based on the adopted average annual growth rate for the 2010 to 2030 period of 1.25%. The result shows that the Salem-Keizer UGB will have 319,203 people by 2035.
- Extrapolate the population for the Keizer portion of the UGB from 2032 to 2035 using Keizer's adopted average annual growth rate of 1.26%. The result shows that the Keizer portion of the UGB will have 49,930 people by 2035.
- 4. Extrapolate the population for the Salem portion of the UGB from 2015 to 2035 the adopted growth rate for the full UGB, 1.25% average annual growth. The result shows that the Salem portion of the UGB will have 269,274 people by 2035.

When added together, the Salem and Keizer populations in 2035 equal the Salem-Keizer UGB population of 319,203 people in 2035.

			Salem-Keizer
Year	Keizer	Salem	UGB
2010	36,478	197,386	233,864
2015		210,035	
2030	46,900	253,080	299,980
2032	48,089	-	
2035	49,930	269,274	319,203
Average Annual	Growth Rates		
2010-2030	1.26%	1.25%	1.25%
2015-2035			
AAGR		1.25%	0.00%
People		59.239	-

Table B-7. Population forecast, Salem-Keizer UGB, 2010 to 2035

Source: 2010 population is based on: "Population forecasts for Marion County, its Cities and Unincorporated Areas 2010-2030" Prepared by the Population Research Center, College of Urban and Prepared by the Population Research Center, College of Urban and Affairs, Portland State University.

2030 population for the Salem-Keizer UGB is based on the report: "Population forecasts for Marion County, its Cities and Unincorporated Areas 2010-2030"

2030 population for the cities of Keizer and Salem is based on Marion County work on allocating the UGB population to Salem and Keizer, shown in Exhibit B, Table 24 of Marion County's "Background Information for the 2030 Population Forecast." See the webpage: http://www.co.marion.or.us/NR/rdonlyres/4A4325AB-F86C-4910-A891-D1FC6CF33FEF/23513/exhibitbbackgroundinventoryskugb.pdf

The 2032 population forecast for Keizer is based on Keizer's adopted population forecast, documented in Ordinance number 2012-656, adopted by Keizer on May 7, 2012

Aging population

In 2010, the median age in Salem was 36.7 years old, compared to the median of 35.4 in Marion County, 36.3 in Polk County, and the State average of 38.5. Figure B-16 shows the populations of Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem by age in 2010.



Figure B-16. Population distribution by age, Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, and Salem, 2010

Source: U.S. Census 2010, Profile of General Population and Housing Characteristics

Table B-8 shows population by age in Salem for 2000 and 2010.

	2000		2010		Change 2000-2010		
Age Group	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Share
Under 5	10,190	7%	11,407	7%	1,217	12%	0%
5-17	24,629	18%	27,529	18%	2,900	12%	0%
18-24	15,646	11%	16,615	11%	969	6%	-1%
25-44	41,198	30%	42,779	28%	1,581	4%	-2%
45-64	28,222	21%	37,819	24%	9,597	34%	4%
65 and over	17,039	12%	18,488	12%	1,449	9%	0%
Total	136,924	100%	154,637	100%	17,713	13%	0%

Table B-8. Population by age, Salem, 2000 and 2010

Source: U.S. Census 2000 Table P12, U.S. Census 2010 Table P12

Figure B-17 shows the Office of Economic Analysis's (OEA) forecast of population change by age group, 2015 to 2035, for Marion and Polk counties.

Figure B-18 shows the change in each age group's share of the total population over the same period.



Figure B-17. Current and projected population by age, Marion County and Polk County, 2015 and 2035

Source: Oregon Office of Economic Analysis. http://www.oregon.gov/DAS/OEA/docs/demographic/pop_by_ageandsex.xls



Figure B-18. Change in share of population by age group, Oregon, Marion County, and Polk County, 2015 to 2035

Source: Oregon Office of Economic Analysis.

http://www.oregon.gov/DAS/OEA/docs/demographic/pop_by_ageandsex.xls

Increased ethnic diversity

Table B-9 shows the change in the size of the Hispanic or Latino population in Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem between 2000 and 2010.

Table B-9. Change in Hispanic or Latino population, Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, and Salem, in 2000 and 2010

	Oregon	Marion County	Polk County	Salem
Change 2000 to 2010				
Hispanic or Latino Population	174,748	27,880	3,608	11,386
Percentage Increase	63%	57%	66%	57%
Increase in share of population	4%	7%	3%	6%

Source: U.S. Census 1990 SF1 Table P009, U.S. Census 2000 Table P4, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 Table P9

Figure B-19 shows the percentage of the total population that is of Hispanic or Latino origin for Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem in 2000 and 2010.

Figure B-19. Hispanic or Latino population by percentage, Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, Salem, in 2000 and 2010



Source: U.S. Census 1990 SF1 Table P009, U.S. Census 2000 Table P4, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 Table P9

Household size and composition

Household size

Table B-10 shows average household sizes in Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem in 2000 and 2010.

Table B-10. Average household size, Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, Salem, 2000 to 2010

	Oregon	Marion County	Polk County	Salem
2000				
Average household size	2.51	2.70	2.62	2.53
Owner-occupied units	2.59	2.72	2.67	2.59
Renter-occupied units	2.36	2.67	2.50	2.44
2010				
Average household size	2.47	2.70	2.60	2.55
Owner-occupied units	2.53	2.69	2.62	2.60
Renter-occupied units	2.36	2.71	2.55	2.48
Change 2000 to 2010				
Average household size	-0.04	0.00	-0.02	0.02
Owner-occupied units	-0.06	-0.03	-0.05	0.01
Renter-occupied units	0.00	0.04	0.05	0.04

Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF1 H12, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 H12

Household composition

Figure B-20 shows household composition in Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem in 2012.





Source: American Community Survey 2012 Tables B25115 and B25010

Group Quarters

Table B-11 shows the population living in group quarters in Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem in 2000 and 2010.

	2000	2010
Oregon		
Total Population	3,421,399	3,831,074
Persons in Group Quarters	77,491	86,642
Percent in Group Quarters	2.3%	2.3%
Percent in correctional institutions	0.6%	0.6%
Marion County		
Total Population	284,834	315,335
Persons in Group Quarters	10,588	10,429
Percent in Group Quarters	3.7%	3.3%
Percent in correctional institutions	1.6%	1.4%
Polk County		
Total Population	62,380	75,403
Persons in Group Quarters	2,032	1,885
Percent in Group Quarters	3.3%	2.5%
Percent in correctional institutions	0.1%	0.2%
Salem		
Total Population	136,924	154,637
Persons in Group Quarters	8,884	8,635
Percent in Group Quarters	6.5%	5.6%
Percent in correctional institutions	3.2%	2.9%

Table B-11. Persons in group quarters, Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, Salem, 2000 to 2010

Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF1 Tables P1 and P37, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 Tables P1 and P42

Demographics and changes in housing choice

Housing needs change throughout a person's life, with changes in income, family composition, and age. The types of housing needed by a 20-year-old college student are different than the needs of a 40-year-old parent with children, or an 80-year-old single-person.

Figure B-21 shows households by household size and age of householder in Salem in 2010.



Figure B-21. Households by household size and age of householder, Salem, 2010

Source: U.S. Census 2010 Table QT-H2

Figure B-22 shows households by tenure and age of householder in Salem in 2010.



Figure B-22. Households by tenure and age of householder, Salem, 2010

Source: U.S. Census 2010 Table QT-H2

Figure B-23 shows households by tenure, size, and age of householder in Salem in 2010.



Figure B-23. Households by household size, tenure, and age of householder, Salem, 2010

Source: U.S. Census 2010 Table QT-H2

Commuting trends

Table B-12 and Figure B-24 show the places where Salem residents were employed in 2011.

Salem were employed, 2011	Table B-12. Places that residents of
	Salem were employed, 2011

Location	Number Percen				
Counties					
Marion County	36,125	66%			
Multnomah County	3,632	7%			
Polk County	3,386	6%			
Washington County	3,286	6%			
Clackamas County	1,926	4%			
Linn County	1,255	2%			
Yamhill County	975	2%			
Lane County	941	2%			
All other counties	2,951	5%			
Cities					
Salem	31,670	58%			
Portland	3,179	6%			
Keizer	1,491	3%			
Woodburn	826	2%			
Tigard	773	1%			
All other cities	16,538	30%			
Total	54,477	100%			

Source: U.S. Census Bureau: LED on the Map, http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/



Figure B-24. Places that residents of the Salem MSA were employed, 2011

Source: US Census OnTheMap, http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/

Table B-13 and Figure B-25 show where employees of firms located Salem lived in 2011.

in Salem lived, 2011					
Location	Number	Percent			
Counties					
Marion County	45,755	55%			
Polk County	10,015	12%			
Linn County	3,670	4%			
Multnomah County	3,507	4%			
Washington County	3,304	4%			
Clackamas County	3,010	4%			
Lane County	2,900	3%			
Yamhill County	2,002	2%			
Benton County	1,450	2%			
All other counties	7,475	9%			
Cities					
Salem	35,177	42%			
Keizer	6,488	8%			
Portland	2,714	3%			
Albany	1,726	2%			
Dallas	1,367	2%			
All other cities	35,616	43%			
Total	83,088	100%			

Table B-13. Places where workers in Salem lived, 2011

Source: U.S. Census Bureau: LED on the Map, http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/





Source: US Census OnTheMap, http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/

MANUFACTURED HOMES

Manufactured homes are and will be an important source of affordable housing in Salem. They provide a form of homeownership that can be made available to low- and moderate-income households. Cities are required to plan for manufactured homes—both on lots and in parks (ORS 197.475-492).

Generally, manufactured homes in parks are owned by the occupants who pay rent for the space. Monthly housing costs are typically lower for a homeowner in a manufactured home park for several reasons, including the fact that property taxes levied on the value of the land are paid by the property owner rather than the manufactured homeowner. The value of the manufactured home generally does not appreciate in the way a conventional home would, however. Manufactured homeowners in parks are also subject to the mercy of the property owner in terms of rent rates and increases. It is generally not within the means of a manufactured homeowner to relocate a manufactured home to escape rent increases. Living in a park is desirable to some because it can provide a more secure community with on-site managers and amenities, such as laundry and recreation facilities.

Salem had 2,450 manufactured homes in 1990 and 3,262 manufactured homes in 2012, an increase of 812 dwellings. According to Census data, roughly 87% of the manufactured homes in Salem were owner-occupied in 2012.

OAR 197.480(4) requires cities to inventory the mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks sited in areas planned and zoned or generally used for commercial, industrial or high-density residential development. Table B-14 presents the inventory of mobile and manufactured home parks within Salem in 2014. The results show that Salem had 45 manufactured home parks with 3,637 spaces and 176 vacant spaces.

Name		Park Type	Total	Vacant
Name	Eocation	гатк туре	Spaces	Spaces
Apple Blossom Mobile Home Park	4783 38th Ave NE	Family	14	2
Arrowhead Mobile Home Park	5422 Portland Road NE	55+	153	2
Bristol Park	205 Boone Road SE	55+	65	0
Brookside Mobile Village	1652 Wiltsey Road SE	Family	32	0
Center Street Mobile Park	4155 Center Street NE	55+	71	11
Chemeketa Mobile Village	4155 Lancaster Drive NE	Family	90	4
Copper Creek Estates	5195 Copper Creek Loop NE	Family	187	12
Cumberland Mobile Home Park	5017 Cumberland Court SE	Family	38	0
Eola Trailer Park	4385 Dallas Highway	55+	12	0
Four Corners Trailer Court	4130 State Street	_	20	2
Green Apple Mobile Park	4703 Portland Road NE	55+	12	0
Green Oaks Mobile Ranch	9195 Portland Rd NE	Family	44	3
Hidden View Estates	3445 Hidden View Lane NE	55+	13	0
Highway Avenue Trailer Park	1865 Hwy Avenue	55+	25	4
Hollywood Estates	2705 Brown Road NE	Family	116	4
Lakeside Village	3110 Turner Road SE	Family	220	43
Lana Lane Mobile Park	1940 Lana Avenue	Family	29	0
Lansford Park	980 Lansford Drive SE	55+	9	0
Meadowlark Mobile Manor	2870 Lancaster Drive SE	55+	126	9
Oak Hollow	2155 Robins Lane SE	Family	59	8
Oak Pointe Estates	2000 Robins Lane SE	Family	90	8
Orchard Mobile	1351 31st Street NE	Family	66	2
Paradise Island Park	3100 Turner Road SE	55+	214	1
Pin Oak Park	4849 State Street	Family	45	0
Prairie Village	4849 San Francisco Drive	Family	30	12
Rhoades Mobile Home Park	3825 Market Street	Family	42	0
Rose Haven Mobile Park	2600 Front Street NE	55+	20	0
Roseland Mobile Home Park	3346 Sunnwiew Road NE	55+	37	0
Royal Mobile Estates - Salem	4252 Avens Street NE	55+	128	2
Roval Oaks Estates Senior Mobile Home Park	1500 Gabriela Street NE	Family	43	0
Salem Greene Estates	4730 Auburn Road NE	55+	164	0
Salem Mobile Estates	4326 Lemon Street NE	55+	59	1
Scofield Mobile Park	5990 Silverton Road NE	Unknown	20	2
Shady Acres Mobile Home Park	5552 Portland Road NE	55+	64	1
Somerset Heights	1630 Wallace Road NW	55+	63	0
Southbrook Mobile Home Park	2040 National Court SE	55+	89	0
Starlite Village Mobile Home Court	4882 Lancaster Drive NE	55+	146	15
Sundial Mobile Home Park	2200 Lancaster Drive SE	55+	368	7
Sunnyside Mobile Home Park	4490-4995 Sunnvside Road SE	55+	136	15
Sunnwiew Mobile Home Park	1930 Hampden Lane NE	Family	49	0
Sunset Village	4915 Swedle Road NE	55+	79	6
Terrace Lake Park	2120 SE Robins Lane	55+	203	0
Trailer Park Village	4733 Portland Road NF	Family	8	ñ
Windstone Village	812 Hoffman Road NF	Family	98	n n
Woming Court	4712 Woming Circle	Family	41	Ő
Total	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	- ,	3.637	176

Table B-14. Inventory of Mobile/Manufactured Home Parks, City of Salem, 2014

Source: Oregon Manufactured Dwelling Park Directory http://o.hcs.state.or.us/MDPCRParks/ParkDirQuery.jsp

GOVERNMENT-ASSISTED HOUSING PROGRAMS

The 2009-2013 Salem-Keizer *Housing and Community Development Consolidated Plan* describes community housing needs, focusing on the populations with greatest housing needs. The *Consolidated Plan* formulates a five-year strategic plan to provide community actions to address needs of low- and moderate-income households.

The City of Salem is an entitlement recipient of federal Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding that is designated for use within the city limits of Salem. Salem received CDBG allocations of \$1,253,852 in 2013 and \$1,240,355 in 2014. The City has a wide range of eligible activities under the CDBG Program, including housing-related activities such as assistance to rehabilitate, acquire, and develop housing for low- and moderate-income households, and assistance for homebuyers. The cities of Salem and Keizer form a consortium that is an entitlement recipient of Home Investment Partnership Program (HOME) funds for use within the city limits of Salem and Keizer. The Salem-Keizer consortium received HOME allocations of \$613,007 in 2013 and \$656,724 in 2014.

Governmental agencies and nonprofit organizations offer a range of housing assistance to low- and moderate-income households in renting or purchasing a home including:

- Section 8 voucher system allows very low-income families (including elderly and disabled) to choose where they live by providing rental certificates that limit tenants' rent to 30% of their monthly income. The program is administered by local housing authorities; HUD pays participating landlords the difference between market rent, as determined by HUD, and what the family is able to pay. Qualified Section 8 participants may use their vouchers to pay rent or participate in lease-to-own or homeownership programs.
- Moderate Rehabilitation Program encourages private owners to rehabilitate apartments and houses and then lease them to eligible families from the Housing Authority's waiting list. Residents under this program must have income not exceeding 50 percent of Area Median Income. The resident pays 30 of their gross income toward rent and utilities. The Salem Housing Authority has three Moderate Rehabilitation (with 57 units) properties under contract.
- **Public housing** is government-provided low cost housing in multi-unit complexes that are available to low-income, mostly elderly or disabled, residents. Managed by local housing authorities, typically require tenants to pay no more than 30% of their monthly income for rent. The SHA owns or operates 307 housing units.

- **HUD landlord subsidies** give funds directly to apartment owners, who lower the rents they charge low-income tenants. Some units are designed for senior citizens or people with disabilities, others for families and individuals.
- Section 202 provides housing for low-income senior citizens and often includes services such as meals, transportation, and accommodations for the disabled. Programs are sponsored on a complex-by-complex basis by non-profit organizations or consumer cooperatives.
- **Subsidized mortgages programs** are state-sponsored programs that reduce the interest rate for homes purchased within the state to qualified low-income first-time homebuyers. Other programs that offer low interest rate loans include:
- Veteran's Affairs loans are home loans offered to eligible veterans, some military personnel, and certain surviving spouses. The VA can guarantee part of a loan from a private lender, and can issue loans for building, repairing, and improving homes, loans for refinancing existing loans, and special grants for retrofitting a home to accommodate a disability.
- Other homeownership assistance include a variety of down payment assistance programs run by states, counties, cities, business organizations, and non-profit organizations for low-income families. To be eligible, the buyer must qualify for a mortgage with a lender, complete a certified homeownership education program and, in most cases, have some money from their own resources as the match for the down payment assistance.

Nonprofit organizations provide a wide variety of housing assistance to lowincome households and individuals. Nonprofits provide assistance with renting or purchasing housing, as well as services (such as emergency food, low-cost medical services, or transportation assistance). The types of housing assistance that nonprofits provide vary by community and may include:

- Homeless shelters/ temporary housing programs that serve the temporarily or long-term homeless population and may be run by non-profit organizations, churches, or cities.
- **Rentals with services** may serve special low-income populations, such as the disabled, elderly, chronically homeless, or ex-offender populations, with housing and associated services, such as meals, assistance finding employment, and alcohol or drug treatment programs.
- **Below market rate rentals.** Although the city cannot implement inclusionary zoning due to state law, multi-family projects funded with HOME and CDBG require these very restrictions, including income

requirements for both programs, rent restrictions for the HOME program (on designated HOME units determined through subsidy layering analysis), and resale restrictions for the property (HOME-affordability period and CDBG-change of use period). These projects can be developed by both for-profit and non-profit organizations.

- Lease-to-own programs allow qualified buyers to select a home and lease it, usually from a nonprofit organization, then purchase the home and assume the mortgage at the end of the lease term. These programs often lock in the purchase price when the participant begins the lease, and most only allow the participant to lease the home for a limited time.
- Sweat equity programs require the homebuyer's participation in the construction of the housing. The sweat equity and labor contributions by the homebuyers and volunteers significantly reduce the cost of the housing. Sweat equity programs may be run by nonprofit organizations such as Habitat for Humanity International, and may be the recipient of HUD SHOP grants, which are provided to national and regional nonprofit organizations that have experience in providing self-help housing to purchase land and make improvements on infrastructure.

Salem has a variety of publicly and privately assisted housing options. The *Consolidated Plan* describes housing assistance program activities in Salem in detail. As of March 2008, Salem had more than 2,800 households that used Section 8 vouchers. The waiting list for Salem/Keizer residents for Section 8 vouchers was 2,145 applications, 82% of which had extremely low incomes (<=30% Area Median Income (AMI)). In 2014, Salem Housing Authority (SHA) managed 245 public housing units for families and people with disabilities. Ninety-four percent of the 926 families on the wait list for Public Housing assistance were families with children. In addition to its Public Housing facilities, SHA owns or operates 392 senior and family housing units through public-private partnerships.

Nonprofit housing agencies in the Salem area include: Mid-Willamette Valley Community Action Agency, The Willamette Housing Organization, Catholic Community Services Foundation, Congregations Helping People, Farmworkers Housing Development Corporation, Habitat for Humanity, NEDCO, Oregon Health Authority, Polk County Community Development Corporation, Retirement Housing Foundation, Salem Housing Authority, Salem Interfaith Hospitality Network, Shangri-La, Spruce Villa, Sunny Oaks, St. Vincent De Paul, St. Francis Shelter, United Methodist Retirement Center, and Windsor Place. These agencies provide a wide range of services to low- and moderate-income households in the Salem area, including: subsidized rental properties, rental assistance programs, homeownership assistance programs, weatherization assistance for homeowners, and sweat equity programs. Nonprofits also provide assistance to homeless people, ranging from emergency shelter and transitional housing, to permanent supportive housing.

INCOME AND AFFORDABILITY OF HOUSING

This section summarizes regional and local income, and housing cost trends. Income is a key determinant in housing choice and a households' ability to afford housing. A review of historical income and housing price trends provides insight into the local and regional housing markets.

Table B-15 shows a set of inflation adjusted income indicators for Oregon, the Salem MSA, and Salem. The results suggest that income, by all measures, increased during the 1990s, and decreased by an equal or greater amount between 2000 and 2012. Overall, median household, median family, and per capita incomes decreased between 1990 and 2012. The percentage of the population living below the poverty level also increased in Oregon, the Salem MSA, and Salem over this period.

	1990	2000	2012
Oregon			
Median HH Income	\$50,455	\$ 56,387	\$ 49,161
Median Family Income	\$ 59,872	\$67,087	\$ 59,476
Per Capita Income	\$24,844	\$28,858	\$ 26,011
% Persons Below Poverty Level	12.4%	11.6%	17.2%
Salem MSA			
Median HH Income	\$49,568	\$ 56,041	\$ 45,656
Median Family Income	\$58,235	\$64,784	\$ 54,395
Per Capita Income	\$22,700	\$25,585	\$ 21,283
% Persons Below Poverty Level	13.2%	13.1%	19.9%
Salem			
Median HH Income	\$46,726	\$53,582	\$ 46,479
Median Family Income	\$ 57,921	\$ 63,957	\$ 55,007
Per Capita Income	\$23,406	\$26,379	\$ 21,459
% Persons Below Poverty Level	14.5%	15.0%	19.8%

Table B-15. Inflation adjusted income indicators (in 2012 dollars), Oregon, SalemMSA (Marion and Polk counties combined), and Salem 1990, 2000, and 2012

Source: U.S. Census 1990 SF1 P080A P107A P114A P117, U.S. Census 2000 SF1 P53 P77 P82 P87, American Community Survey 2012 DP03, BLS Inflation Calculator

Notes: All dollar amounts in 2012 dollars. 1990 income converted to 2012 dollars using 1.85 inflation factor. 2000 income converted to 2012 dollars using 1.38 inflation factor.

Figure B-26 shows the distribution of household income in Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem in 2012.



Figure B-26. Household Income, Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, and Salem, 2012

A typical standard used to determine housing affordability is that a household should pay no more than a certain percentage of household income for housing, including payments and interest or rent, utilities, and insurance. HUD guidelines indicate that households paying more than 30% of their income on housing experience "cost burden," and households paying more than 50% of their income on housing experience "severe cost burden." Using cost burden as an indicator is consistent with the Goal 10 requirement to provide housing that is affordable to all households in a community.

According to the U.S. Census, nearly 21,500 households in Salem—or 39%—paid more than 30% of their income for housing expenses in 2012. About 52% of renter households in Salem were cost burdened, compared with 30% of owner households. In comparison, 39% of Oregon's households were cost burdened in 2012, with 49% of renter households and 30% of owner households cost burdened.

Source: American Community Survey, 2012; Table B19001

Figure B-27 shows the percentage of the population experiencing housing cost burdens in Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem in 2012.



Figure B-27. Housing cost burden, Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, Salem, 2012

Source: American Community Survey 2012 Tables B25070 and B25091

Figure B-28 shows housing cost burden, by tenure, for Salem households in 2012.

Figure B-28. Housing cost burden by tenure, Salem, 2012



Source: American Community Survey 2012 Tables B25070 and B25091

While cost burden is a common measure of housing affordability, it does have some limitations. Two important limitations are:

- A household is defined as cost burdened if the housing costs exceed 30% of their income, regardless of actual income. The remaining 70% of income is expected to be spent on non-discretionary expenses, such as food or medical care, and on discretionary expenses. Households with higher income may be able to pay more than 30% of their income on housing without impacting the household's ability to pay for necessary non-discretionary expenses.
- Cost burden compares income to housing costs and does not account for accumulated wealth. As a result, the estimate of how much a household can afford to pay for housing does not include the impact of accumulated wealth a household's ability to pay for housing. For example, a household with retired people may have relatively low income but may have accumulated assets (such as profits from selling another house) that allow them to purchase a house that would be considered unaffordable to them based on the cost burden indicator.

Cost burden is only one indicator of housing affordability. Another way of exploring the issue of financial need is to review wage rates and housing affordability. Table B-16 shows an illustration of affordable housing wage and

rent gap for households in the Salem MSA at different percentages of median family income (MFI). The data are for a typical family of four. The results indicate that a household must earn \$12.84 an hour to afford a two-bedroom unit according to HUD's market rate rent estimate.

Table B-16. Illustration of affordable housing wage and rent gap by HUD income categories for a two-bedroom rental unit, Salem MSA, 2012

	Minimum				
Value	Wage	50% MFI	80% MFI	100% MFI	120% MFI
Annual Hours	2,080	2,080	2,080	2,080	2,080
Derived Hourly Wage	\$9.10	\$14.42	\$23.08	\$28.85	\$34.62
Annual Wage	\$18,928	\$30,000	\$48,000	\$60,000	\$72,000
Annual Affordable Rent	\$5,678	\$9,000	\$14,400	\$18,000	\$21,600
Monthly Affordable Rent	\$473.20	\$750	\$1,200	\$1,500	\$1,800
HUD Fair Market Rent (2 Bedroom)	\$742	\$742	\$742	\$742	\$742
Is HUD Fair Market Rent Higher Than The Monthly Affordable Rent?	Yes	No	No	No	No
Rent Paid Monthly OVER 30% of Income	\$269	na	na	na	na
Rent Paid Annually OVER 30% of Income	\$3,226	na	na	na	na
Percentage of Income Paid OVER 30% of Income for Rent	17%	na	na	na	na
Total Spent on Housing	47%	30%	19%	15%	12%
For this area what would the "Affordable Housing Wage" be?	\$12.84	\$12.84	\$12.84	\$12.84	\$12.84
The Affordable Housing Wage Gap IS:	\$3.74	na	na	na	na

Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, http://www.huduser.org/portal/datasets/fmr.html MFI: Median family income, FMR: Fair market rent

Note: 30% of MFI corresponds to an hourly wage (\$8.05) below the minimum wage, so this table does not show that category of income.

Table B-16 shows a rough estimate of affordable housing cost and units by income levels for Salem in 2012 based on Census data about household income, the value of owner-occupied housing in Salem, and rental costs in Salem. Several points should be kept in mind when interpreting this data:

- Affordable monthly housing costs and estimate of affordable purchase prices are based on HUD income standards and assume that a household will not spend more than 30% of household income on housing costs. Some households pay more than 30% of household income on housing costs, generally because they are unable to find more affordable housing or because wealthier households are able to pay a larger share of income for housing costs.
- HUD's affordability guidelines for Fair Market Rent are based on median family income and provide a rough estimate of financial need. These guidelines may mask other barriers to affordable housing such as move-in costs, competition for housing from higher-income households, and availability of suitable units. They also ignore other important factors such as accumulated assets, purchasing housing as an investment, and the effect of down payments and interest rates on housing affordability.
- Households compete for housing in the marketplace. In other words, affordable housing units are not necessarily *available* to low-income households. For example, if an area has a total of 50 dwelling units that are affordable to households earning 30% of median family income, 50%

of those units may already be occupied by households that earn more than 30% of median family income.

The data in Table B-17 indicate that in 2012:

- More than 11% of the region's households could not afford a studio apartment according to HUD's estimate of \$559 as fair market rent;
- About one-quarter of households in Salem could not afford a twobedroom apartment at HUD's fair market rent level of \$742;
- A household earning median family income (\$60,000) could afford a home valued up to about \$167,400.

	Number		Affordable Monthly Housing	Crude Estimate of Affordable Purchase	Est. Number of Owner	Est. Number of Renter	Surplus	HUD Fair Market Rent (FMR) in
Income Level	of HH	Percent	Cost	Owner-Occupied Unit	Units	Units	(Deficit)	2012
Less than \$10,000	6,716	12%	\$0 to \$250	\$0 to \$25,000	1,491	690	(4,535)	
\$10,000 to \$14,999	3,034	5%	\$250 to \$375	\$25,000 to \$37,000	671	722	(1,641)	
								Studio: \$559
\$15,000 to \$24,999	5,575	10%	\$375 to \$625	\$37,500 to \$62,500	803	4,573	(200)	1 bdrm: \$620
\$25,000 to \$34,999	5,684	10%	\$625 to \$875	\$62,500 to \$87,500	601	8,491	3,409	2 bdrm: \$742
\$35,000 to \$49,999	9,626	17%	\$875 to \$1,250	\$87,500 to \$125,000	3,868	6,751	993	3 bdrm: \$1,078
\$50,000 to \$74,999	12,213	21%	\$1,250 to \$1,875	\$125,000 to \$187,500	9,907	2,560	254	4 bdrm: \$1,301
Salem MSA 2012 N	/IFI: \$60,000)	\$1,500	\$180,000				
\$75,000 to \$99,999	6,224	11%	\$1,875 to \$2,450	\$187,500 to \$245,000	6,881	650	1,307	
\$100,000 to \$149,999	5,420	10%	\$2,450 to \$3,750	\$245,000 to \$375,000	5,798	94	472	
\$150,000 or more	2,431	4%	More than \$3,750	More than \$375,000	2,277	94	(60)	
Total	56,923	100%			32,297	24,626	0	

Table B-17. Rough estimate of housing affordability, Salem MSA, 2012

Sources: American Community Survey 2012, HUD Section 8 Income Limits, HUD Fair Market Rent.

Based on Oregon Housing & Community Services. Housing Strategies Workbook: Your Guide to Local Affordable Housing Initiatives, 1993. Notes: FMR-Fair market rent; bdrm - bedrooms

The conclusion based on the data presented in Table B-17 is that in 2012 Salem had a significant deficit of nearly 6,400 affordable housing units for households that earn less than \$25,000 annually. The next section examines changes in housing cost between 2000 and 2012.

Changes in housing cost

According to Zillow, the median sales price of a home in Salem increased by about 14% between 2004 and 2013. This figure disguises the changes that have occurred in the interim: housing prices rose steeply prior to 2007, reaching a high of roughly \$215,000, before the housing bubble and recession led to a period of declining housing prices. Housing prices in Salem, while following the same general pattern, remain lower than those observed in comparable metro areas and the State as a whole.

Housing values

Figure B-29 shows the median sales price in Oregon, and the Eugene, Portland, and Salem Metros between 2004 and 2013.





Source: Zillow.com

Housing rental costs

Table B-18 shows the median contract rent in Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem in 2000 and 2012.

Location	Re	ent	Change 2000 to 2012		
Location	2000	2012	Amount	Percent	
Oregon	\$732	\$740	\$8	1%	
Marion County	\$665	\$650	-\$15	-2%	
Polk County	\$656	\$671	\$15	2%	
Salem	\$652	\$650	-\$2	0%	

Table B-18. Median contract rent, nominal dollars,Oregon, Marion County, Polk County, and Salem,2000 to 2012

Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF3 Table H56

American Community Survey 2012 Table B25058

Note: All data reported in 2012 dollars; 2000 figures were updated using Consumer Price Index.

Figure B-30 shows a comparison of gross rent for renter-occupied housing units in Oregon, Marion and Polk counties, and Salem in 2012.⁴⁰





⁴⁰ The U.S. Census defines gross rent as: "the amount of the contract rent plus the estimated average monthly cost of utilities (electricity, gas, and water and sewer) and fuels (oil, coal, kerosene, wood, etc.) if these are paid for by the renter (or paid for the renter by someone else)."

Table B-19 shows that, between 1990 and 2000, both median household income and housing values increased substantially, with increases in home value outpacing growth in income. Median household income decreased between 2000 and 2012, nearly erasing the gains made in the previous decade, while housing values (after substantial change in the interim) emerged virtually unchanged at the end of this period.

				Change	
Indicator	1990	2000	2012	1990-2000	2000-2012
Median HH Income	\$ 46,726	\$ 53,582	\$ 46,479	15%	-13%
Median Owner Value	\$ 111,464	\$ 180,671	\$ 180,500	62%	0%
Ratio of Housing Value to Income					
Median HH Income	2.4	3.4	3.9		

Table B-19. Comparison of income and housing value, Salem, 1990, 2000, and 2012

Source: U.S. Census 1990 SF1 P080A P107A P114A P117, SF3 H008 H043A H061A, U.S. Census 2000 SF1 P53 P77 P82 P87, SF3 H7 H63 H76, American Community Survey 2012 DP03, B25003, B25064, B25077



Mr. Paul Gehlar M Parkside Living, LLC P.O. Box 160 Salem, OR

Comparison of costs to construct a 40 unit apartment in an urban environment verses a suburban environment.

The modern suburban apartment typical consists of a 3 story walk up served with two sets of stairs. The buildings usually contain 12 to 16 units per building. Suburban apartments typically have a stem-wall foundation, landscaping and lawn. Parking is surface parking around the building. Land in around Salem in a suburban setting usually goes between \$10 per square foot to \$15 per square foot. The exterior materials are typically fiber cement board siding (mainly lap siding), wood decks set into the building with a small overhang, a composite roof and vinyl windows.

The modern urban apartment typically consists of 4 to 5 stories of wood frame construction over a podium. The podium is needed to achieve the necessary parking (parking under the building to have enough parking spaces to meet the current code). Urban apartments typically have a slab-on grade foundation with a post-tension deck above, then wood frame above the deck. The podium/parking below the building leads to many complications and more expensive materials. Steel, rebar and tension cables are incorporated into the foundation, peers and deck. Structural steel members are required to secure the building, the podium level is constructed of fire resistant materials. Also, an elevator is added to meet current code. Land price in the Salem downtown area usually is priced between \$40 and \$50 per square foot.

In comparing the urban verse suburban the land costs cannot be compared as a one to one. Usually a suburban setting takes twice the land to build the same number of units.

Analysis of differences in construction costs urban verse suburban.

	Urban		<u>Subur</u>	<u>ban</u>	
Concrete, concrete reinforcement, concrete formwork, post-tension deck					
And materials	\$616,000	VS	\$140,0	000 Stem-wall	
Crane	\$ 2,000	VS	\$	0	
Masonry	\$ 66,000	vs	\$	0	
Structural steel and steel	\$254,000	VS	\$	0	
Bentonite waterproofing at elevator	\$ 9,000	VS	\$	0	
Building insulation(main expense deck)	\$ 85,000	VS	\$ 35 <i>,</i> 0	000	
Metal panels vs fiber cement	\$260,000	VS	\$205,0	000	
TPO roof (note less roof vs comp.)	\$114,000	vs	\$ 40,0	000	
Roof hatch	\$ 3,900	vs	\$	0	
Storefront windows (first level)	\$ 49,000	vs	\$	0	
Vinyl window installation	\$ 45,000	vs	\$25,	000	

Exterior painting	\$ 65,000	vs	\$95,000
Pre-manufactured decks vs wood	\$323,000	vs	\$160,000
Elevator	\$135,000	vs	\$0
Facility chute (garbage)	\$ 15,000	vs	\$0
Fire sprinkler system	\$150,000	vs	\$120,000 no dry system
Generator	\$ 32,000	vs	\$0
Geo-Piers (needed to stabilize foundation)	\$125,000	VS	\$0











The interiors are assumed to have similar finishes so the price difference should be minimal.

Sincerely,

Dan Jursnick Dan Jursnick

MARKET SURVEY

				6/8/18
Property Name	The Court Yard Apartments	South Block Apartments	The Merdian	The Fountains
PHONE #		503-990-7134	503-540-7777	503-990-6497
ADDRESS	211 Court Street NE	315 Commercial St SE	777 Commercial St SE	4873 Skyline Rd S
CITY, STATE. ZIP	Salem, OR 97301	Salem, OR 97301	Salem, OR 97301	Salem, OR 97306
# of Units	40	178	85	70
Vacancies	40	0	5	25
Occupany %	0%	100%	94%	64%
Specials or	070	10070	2470	0470
Comments Veer Duilt	1/2 off FMR	None	LM, no return call	LM, no return call
Management Co	C&P Real Estate	2015 Norris & Stavans	2008 Coast Real Estate Services	2017 (in lease up)
Application Fee	S40	\$50	s45	\$50
Security Deposit	\$500-to 1 month of rent	1 month's rent	\$500-to 1 month of rent	1 month's rent
Pets	Cats & dogs, 45lb limit	Cats & dogs under 45lbs	Cats & dogs, no restrictions	No cats, dogs under 20lbs
Pet Rent	\$20 per pet	\$25	\$25	\$20
Pet Deposits	\$300	\$300	\$200	\$300
Utilities	Included	Based on size, + \$40-\$60	None covered	Addtnl \$50 for WSG
AMENITIES			-	
Carports	X	X	X	V
Decks/Patios	А	A .	X	Λ
Fitness Center		x	<u>л</u> Х	X
Garages			X	A
Laundry onsite				
W/D in unit	X	X	Х	Х
Leasing Office	Х	Х	Х	Х
No Smoking	Х	Х	Х	Х
Play Area				
	X	X		X
Swimming Pool				
Sauna				
Jacuzzi Tennis/Sport Courts				
Cable Available	X	Х	Х	Х
WiFi	Х	Х	Х	Х
Bike storgae, inside	Х			
Studio	Studio	Studio	Studio	Studio
Low Sq. Ft.	509	521	N/A	
Low Rent	\$1,133	\$1,000		
Rent Per S.F.	2.23	1.92		
High Sq. Ft.	572	634	N/A	
Pant Par S E	31,250 2,10	2.05		
1v1	1x1	2.03	1v1	1.1
Low Sa Et	797	647	993	131
Low Rent	\$1,450	\$1,100	\$1,150	
Rent Per S.F.	1.82	1.70	1.16	
High Sq. Ft.	861	728	1127	
High Rent	\$1,550	\$1,400	\$1,550	
Rent Per S.F.	1.80	1.92	1.38	
2x1	2x1	2x1	2x1	2x1
Low Sq. Ft.	1010	940	986	
Low Rent	\$1,920	\$1,350	\$1,450	
Kent Per S.F. High Sa Et	1.90	1.44 975	1.4/	
High Rent	\$1.955	\$2,500	\$2,000	
Rent Per S.F.	1.94	2.56	1.83	
2x2	2x2	2x2	2x2	2x2
Low Sq. Ft.	1203	975	1187	1000
Low Rent	<u>\$2,00</u> 0	\$1,350	<u>\$1,595</u>	\$1,120
Rent Per S.F.	1.66	1.38	1.34	1.12
High Sq. Ft.	1443	1330	1421	1375
High Rent	\$2,390	\$2,500	\$1,999	\$1,575
Rent Per S.F.	1.66	1.88	1.41	1.15
3x2	3x2	3x2	3x2	3x2
Low Sq. Ft.		1404		
Rent Per S F		1 42		
High Sa Ft		1.42		
High Rent		\$2,500		
Rent Per S.F.		1.56		